

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2020

Elementary Content Teacher Perceptions Regarding Their ELL Instructional Practices

Collier Wesley Owens Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the Bilingual, Multilingual, and Multicultural Education Commons, and the Curriculum and Instruction Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Education

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

C. Wesley Owens

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Steve Wells, Committee Chairperson, Education Faculty
Dr. Chris Cale, Committee Member, Education Faculty
Dr. Amy White, University Reviewer, Education Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2020

Abstract

Elementary Content Teacher Perceptions Regarding Their ELL Instructional Practices

by

C. Wesley Owens

MA, American University, 1985

BS, Howard University, 1984

Project Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Education

Walden University

October 2020

Abstract

Instructional practices of elementary content teachers of English language learners (ELLs) and their alignment with improved ELL academic performance need to be explored. The purpose of this case study was to explore the instructional practices of elementary teachers of ELLs and how those practices are perceived by the teachers to be aligned with improved ELL academic performance. The study is grounded in Ladson-Billings' theory of culturally relevant pedagogy which holds that student academic achievement and cultural identity should be affirmed. The research questions focused on exploring instructional practices used by teachers to support ELL learning and the teachers' perceptions regarding how their practices are aligned with improved ELL academic performance. The case study was bounded by 3 elementary schools in an Eastern school district. Data from lesson plans and semi-structured interviews with 9 general education teachers who met the criteria of teaching in an elementary school in the geographical area were analyzed using a priori, open, and axial coding. The findings suggest that positive strategies for cooperative learning and varied instructional practices were in use, but there is a need to build culturally appropriate and collaborative relationships with English to Speakers of Other Languages teachers, develop means to communicate with ELL parents to break cultural barriers, and create a welcoming learning atmosphere for ELLs. A policy recommendation paper was developed to improve ELL pedagogy in content classes. Improved instruction for ELLs will contribute to positive social change by increasing ELL students' academic achievement.

Elementary Content Teacher Perceptions Regarding Their ELL Instructional Practices

by

C. Wesley Owens

MA, American University, 1985

BS, Howard University, 1984

Project Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Education

Walden University

October 2020

Dedication

This doctoral study is dedicated to the loving memory of my parents, who I miss dearly and think about daily. They supported me through every endeavor of my life. To my father, who was my first example of manhood and for instilling confidence in me. To my mother, who provided me the necessary tools needed to commit to life-long learning. To my wife, Dawn, and our children, Damon, Ashley, Amber, Destany, and Mekhi, thank you for your love and support. And finally, this work is dedicated to all the hardworking men and women in the education profession who strive to provide excellence to those they serve.

Acknowledgments

First and foremost, I must acknowledge my Lord and Savior, Jesus Christ, who is the author and finisher of my faith. He bestowed His love towards me, never leaving nor forsaking me, to whom I am eternally grateful and indebted. To my wife, Dawn, who has been a continuous believer and endless cheerleader for my success. To Ashley and Amber, my daughters and two pillars of love who quietly watched this journey with patience and understanding. To my life long and best friend Roger Brown, who encouraged and stood by me but mostly, honored my request by not asking how my dissertation was going. To Dr. Steve Wells, my mentor, who honored me by accepting the assignment as my doctoral committee chairperson. Dr. Wells' guidance, encouragement, and friendship allowed me to successfully complete this study. Without your help, this paper would not have been possible. I want to acknowledge Dr. Chris Cale for accepting the responsibility of becoming my second member and providing me assistance and suggestions to finish my project study. I would also like to recognize Dr. Amy White, my University Research Reviewer committee member, whose feedback and advice were priceless.

Table of Contents

Section 1: The Problem	1
The Local Problem	1
Rationale for Problem Choice	2
Evidence of the Problem at the Local Level	3
Evidence of the Problem From the Professional Literature	4
Definitions	5
Significance	5
Research Questions	7
Review of the Literature	8
Conceptual Framework	8
Review of the Broader Problem	20
Implications	35
Summary	35
Section 2: The Methodology	37
Qualitative Research Design and Approach	37
Description of the Qualitative Tradition	39
Justification of Research Design	39
Participants	42
Number of Participants Justified	42
Procedure for Gaining Access to Participants	43
Establishing Rapport	44

Protection of Participants Rights	45
Data Collection	46
Data Collection Instrumentation	47
Role of the Researcher	52
Data Analysis	53
A Priori Coding of Interview Data	53
Open Coding of Interview Data	54
Axial Coding of Interview Data	55
Lesson Plan Analysis	56
Evidence of Quality of Procedures	57
Discrepant Cases	59
Data Analysis Results	60
Review Process for When Data Were Generated, Gathered, and Recorded	60
Findings from the Problem and Research Question 1	61
Findings From the Problem and Research Question 2	65
Discrepant Cases	70
Evidence of Quality	72
Outcomes	73
Conclusion	73
Section 3: The Project	75
Description of the Project	75
Goals of the Policy Recommendation with Detail	76

Rationale	76
Review of the Scholarly Literature on Policy Papers	77
How a Policy Paper is Appropriate	78
How Theory and Research Support the Content of the Policy Paper	79
Project Description	87
Roles and Responsibilities of Stakeholders	87
Project Implementation	88
Project Evaluation Plan	88
Project Implications	89
Importance to Stakeholders in a Larger Context	90
Conclusion	90
Section 4: Reflections and Conclusions	92
Project Strengths and Limitations	92
Project Strengths	93
Project Limitations	94
Recommendations for Alternative Approaches	95
Scholarship Project Development, and Leadership and Change	96
Reflection on Importance of the Work	100
Implications, Applications, and Directions for Future Research	101
Implications for Social Change	102
Recommendations for Future Research	102
Conclusion	103

References	105
Appendix A: Policy Recommendations for Elementary Content Teachers' ELL	
Instructional Practices	139
Appendix B: Interview Questionnaire	153
Appendix C: Research Questions Coding Progression	155
Appendix D: Lesson Plan Analysis of Activities and Varied Instruction	157
Appendix E: Interview Questions Aligned to Research Questions	158

Section 1: The Problem

As student populations become increasingly diverse in public schools and the achievement gap between ELLs and English-speaking students continue to grow, researchers, lawmakers, and school district personnel seek ways to increase student performance. Federal laws and initiatives such as Race to the Top (U.S. Department of Education [USDOE], 2009) and Every Student Succeeds Act (ESSA) (USDOE, 2015) have been designed to close the performance gap between English Language Learning (ELL) and non-ELL students. According to the National Assessment of Educational Progress (NAEP, 2017), ELLs scored significantly lower than non-ELLs in reading and math at the fourth-grade level. The existence of this persistent performance gap and demographic trends demonstrating an increase of ELLs in public school classrooms (USDOE, 2017a) has sparked improvement efforts in the field of ELL instruction (Dallavis, 2014).

The Local Problem

The problem, in a Virginia school district, is a need to explore the instructional practices of elementary content teachers of ELLs and how those practices are perceived by the teachers to be aligned with improved ELL academic performance. The setting for this exploratory case study was three elementary schools in a metropolitan school district that has total student enrollment of over 90,000. The district includes over 90 elementary, middle, and high schools. The three schools average over 30 content teachers and each school has one principal and one assistant principal. The average class size of each school is 25. Leaders in the local district are charged with the task of

meeting and exceeding state standards while helping ELLs become proficient in English. On-time graduation rates in this Virginia school district exceed state averages overall (92%) but ELLs comprise the lowest on-time graduation rates (82%) of all student groups. In the local setting, it is important to understand how content teachers use research-based ELL instructional strategies because such approaches are linked to improved ELL academic performance (Turkan & Burzick, 2016). A gap in practice exists at the local level where, according to the school districts' supervisor of program evaluation, there is not a clear understanding of which instructional strategies are being used in the classroom. This gap points to an apparent gap between best practices and existing practices. This study addressed this gap in practice.

The increasing diversity of student populations has presented unique challenges for teachers who instruct ELLs in their classrooms. Teachers work with students who are faced with the dual task of attaining academic knowledge while overcoming linguistic barriers (Perez & Kennedy, 2014). These barriers often require teachers to make instructional accommodations in the classroom to assist ELLs' academic performance (Pappamihiel & Lynn, 2016). According to Schulz et al. (2014), teachers are challenged to construct cultural bridges to link students' home and school lives to enhance academic achievement. With increasing diversity in U.S. schools, a study about the ELL instructional practices of elementary content teachers was warranted.

Rationale for Problem Choice

ELLs at the study site are receiving services to assist in meeting and exceeding state content standards. However, leaders have struggled to improve student achievement

of ELLs. Part of these services includes academic language instruction in English, math, and science. Reasons for their low-performance levels are unknown and warrant exploration of teachers' perspectives about how to improve ELLs' academic performance. The following subsection contains evidence of the problem at the local and national levels.

Evidence of the Problem at the Local Level

The rationale at the local level for addressing this problem includes the academic underperformance of ELLs compared to their non-ELL peers. At the local setting, 37% of ELL reading scores and 31% of ELL math scores in Grades 3–8 scored as "failing" in the Standards of Learning standardized testing program (VDOE, 2018). Non-ELL students have failure rates of only 15% and 17%, respectively, for reading and math, which indicates that the problem is current and meaningful at the local level. Nationally, ELLs scored lower than non-ELLs in reading and math according to the NAEP (2017). In math, the achievement gap was even more significant between non-ELLs and ELLs, as the difference was 25 points at the fourth-grade level and increased to 41 points at the eighth-grade level (Kena et al., 2014). There is also a gap between the graduation rates of ELLs and non-ELLs (USDOE, 2016). Closing ELL academic achievement gaps are a concern at the local school district. Therefore, to assist ELLs in meeting the student achievement standards of non-ELLs, the local school district provides language instruction support at each K-12 school. The gap in academic performance between ELLs and their non-ELL counterparts is a component of the rationale for this study.

Evidence of the Problem From the Professional Literature

A disparity exists between ELLs and other ethnic subgroups in student performance and socioeconomic status. African American and Hispanic American academic performance have improved, causing the gap in performance between these two groups and other nonethnic students to decrease. However, the educational difference in performance between ELLs and nonethnic subgroups remained unchanged (Carnoy & Garcia, 2017). As non-ELL Asian students are performing at higher levels than White students in reading and mathematics achievement, Asian and Hispanic ELLs are falling further behind White students (Carnoy & Garcia, 2017). Socioeconomic disparities also exist because ELLs are more likely to have a higher rate of poverty than European American, African American, Asian American, and Hispanic American non-ELLs. This low socioeconomic status correlates significantly with lower academic achievement (Barragan et al., 2018; Gay, 2013). The achievement gaps and socioeconomic disparities, then, support the need to for this study, which addresses the problem.

There is widespread uncertainty among elementary content teachers about how to teach ELLs. Elementary teachers of ELLs face the dual challenge of promoting academic achievement across subject areas and teaching English language and literacy to a mixed group, some of whom speak English and some who cannot speak English (Lee & Buxton, 2013). According to Diaz et al. (2016), some content teachers have low expectations for students with underdeveloped language and literacy skills. Often, they hesitate to acknowledge that high academic performance can be expected before ELLs develop English skills (Diaz et al., 2016). Selecting instructional models for ELLs can be an

added task to accurately measure teacher performance in the classroom (Von Esch & Kavanagh, 2018). Therefore, it is necessary to address content teachers' uncertainty about how to address ELLs' academic problems. The purpose of this case study was to explore the instructional practices of elementary teachers of ELLs and how those practices are perceived by the teachers to be aligned with improved ELL academic performance.

Definitions

To establish common terminology and understanding of key terms in this study, the following definitions are provided:

Culturally relevant pedagogy (CRP) is teaching that "addresses student achievement and helps students accept and affirm their cultural identity while developing critical perspectives that challenge inequities that schools perpetuate" (Ladson-Billings, 1995, p. 469).

Culturally relevant instruction (CRI) is a pedagogical approach that recognizes and embraces the prior knowledge, cultural backgrounds, and ethnic identities of students in all aspects of learning (Gay, 2002; Schulz et al., 2014).

Significance

The findings of this study are significant to teachers as they can benefit by gaining an understanding of the instructional practices that are applied with the intention of improving the academic performance of ELLs. According to O'Brien and Leighton (2015), knowledge of instructional methods is needed to identify ways to strengthen ELLs' conceptual knowledge and academic achievement. A better understanding of

instructional practice alignment with research-based practices may provide greater insight when educating teachers who have ELLs in their classroom (Feiman-Neimser, 2018). Research on instructional strategies may provide teachers with support to raise the standard of ELLs' academic performance (Grasparil & Hernandez, 2015). Increasing teachers' understanding of instructional practices for ELLs may provide students with better opportunities to succeed academically.

Low-performing ELLs can produce socioeconomic hardships for the community and the students. Graduation rates of ELLs lag behind those of all other subgroups in the United States (Mitchel, 2016), and such academic performance and high dropout rates have been linked to persistent low income among adults (Grady & O'Dwyer, 2014). Stark and Noel (2015) found that most unemployed adults were high school dropouts. The economic and social importance of ELLs in U.S. communities continues to rise, and by 2025, ELLs are expected to make up 20% of the workforce. As a result, improvement in the educational outcomes of ELLs has become an essential goal for educators (American Federation of Teachers [AFT], 2013). The findings of this study could provide a better understanding of the existing instructional practices of elementary teachers of ELLs and an exploration of pedagogies that are perceived to improve ELL academic performance.

This study may contribute to positive social change by producing a deeper understanding of instructional practices of content elementary teachers and which practices teachers perceive to be aligned with improved ELL academic performance. A deeper understanding of the phenomenon could benefit stakeholders, namely, the

teachers, the school district leadership, and the community. These stakeholders may benefit from a better understanding of the ELL instructional practices of content elementary teachers and help school officials make informed decisions that provide teachers with the necessary knowledge to support ELLs. Instructional practices that connect teaching to ELL academic achievement benefit ELLs (Lee & Buxton, 2013). Connecting instruction to ELL academic achievement provides adequate language support to master content subject matters (Kim, 2017). Connecting instructional practices also means allowing students to draw from their lived experiences and cultural backgrounds to bring equitable learning opportunities into the classroom (Lee et al., 2014). Thus, the results of this study could be used to improve the instructional practices of content elementary teachers with ELLs.

Research Questions

The problem that this study addressed is a need to explore the instructional practices of elementary content teachers of ELLs and how those practices are perceived by the teachers to be aligned with improved ELL academic performance. The following questions guided this study:

- RQ 1: What instructional practices do elementary content teachers say they use to support ELL learning?
- RQ 2: What practices are perceived to be aligned with improved ELL academic performance?

Review of the Literature

This literature review begins with a discussion of the conceptual framework used to guide this study, including a description of the constructs of culturally relevant instruction, and the benefits of integrating it into the classroom. Following the conceptual framework is a comprehensive review of research related to: (a) culturally relevant curriculum (CRC), (b) student engagement, and (c) instructional practices. These subtopics provide an explanation of the research problem.

In conducting the literature search, the following databases were used:

Educational Resources Information Center (ERIC), PsycINFO, SocINDEX with Full

Text, and ProQuest Criminal Justice. The literature search primarily focused on sources

published in peer-reviewed journals within the last 5 years, using the following keywords

and topics: culturally and linguistically diverse, culturally relevant pedagogy, culturally

responsive instruction, culturally responsive pedagogy, culturally responsive teaching,

culturally relevant curriculum, culturally relevant teaching, English Language Learners,

English as a Second Language, instructional practices, multicultural curriculum, student

engagement, and teacher perceptions. All the articles included in this literature review

were peer reviewed.

Conceptual Framework

The conceptual framework of this study was based on Ladson-Billings's theory of culturally relevant pedagogy (CRP). The purpose of this exploratory case study was to explore the phenomenon of the instructional practices of elementary teachers of ELLs

and how those practices are perceived by the teachers to be aligned with improved ELL academic performance.

Culturally relevant pedagogy. Ladson-Billings's (1994, 1995, & 2006) theory of CRP was rooted in the theoretical tenets of Vygotskian theory of social and cognitive construction that originated in the 1990s from research on educational inequity of ethnically diverse students. Fundamental to this basic understanding is the Vygotskian explanation for the cultural shifts occurring among the children in today's classroom. Vygotsky (1978) recognized the importance of how cultural, social, and historical factors, have an impact on students' thinking and learning. Vygotsky noted that individuals construct knowledge based on their prior learning experiences. Guided by the instruction of their teachers, students can be proficient learners when educational experiences relate to their cultures.

CRP is the framework for the research design components of this study, which involved an exploration of instructional practices intended to support ELL learning and teachers' perspectives about which practices are most effective. According to Ladson-Billings (1995),

Culturally relevant pedagogy rests on three criteria or propositions; (a) Students must experience academic success; (b) students must develop and/or maintain cultural competence, and; (c) students must develop a critical consciousness through with they challenge the status quo of the current social order. (p. 160)

Davis and McCarther (2015) asserted that teachers who use CRP discover effective instructional practices that acknowledge students' cultural backgrounds in the identified

learning style of students. CRP involves instructional practices that draw on students' cultural and linguistic strengths, which enable students to reach higher levels of academic success (Powell et al., 2016). CRP can be a useful practice that empowers teachers to see culture as an asset to enrich students' social and academic achievement.

Critical race theory. The conceptual framework is also grounded in critical race theory (CRT). CRT is centered on the premise that racism is a normal part of American culture, White dominance over non-White people prevails externally and internally, and race is part of the American social construction (Delgado, 2000; Mitchell & Stewart, 2013; Ortiz & Jani, 2010). If educators ignore that the relationship between race, racism, and power is an integral part of American society, students of non-White cultures may not be aware of the richness of their culture. This lack of awareness becomes more evident when one ethnic group is portrayed more than or in place of the less dominant group. If students do not see themselves in the curriculum, they can become disconnected, causing them to lose interest and fall behind academically. The absence of this relationship has crept into the educational field, making CRT a useful tool in exploring what, if any, impact critical race theory may have on academic achievement.

The portrayal of European American prevalence in the classroom provides an opportunity to employ storytelling and counter-story telling methods to contest and reshape the traditional version of American history and offer a renewed counter-narrative voice to students of color. Experiential textbook counter-storytelling in education offers an alternative to the traditional textbook version of American history (Fuentes, 2013) by offering a counter-rhetorical voice and solutions to culture and race for students of color

(Bagley & Castro-Salazar, 2012; Banks & Hughes, 2013). Educational counterstorytelling turns "his-story' into "our-story" geared towards ensuring that the contributions of people of color are heard. With repeated exposure to reading curriculum in which children of color find literature that offers views of their cultural surroundings, reading achievement and reading engagement may have a positive impact on student performance (Hughes-Hassell et al., 2009). Highlighting the culturally relevant exploits of culturally and linguistically diverse children may improve student motivation that can lead to improved academic performance. With the addition of counter-storytelling in the instructional materials for ethnically diverse students, ELLs may be able to benefit from the cultural voices of their ancestors.

Why CRP is appropriate as part of the framework. CRP is an appropriate framework for this study because it has been associated with the improved engagement of students from diverse cultures and backgrounds. Wyatt (2014) stated that instruction that acknowledges cultural awareness and prior experiences supports student engagement. Wyatt examined seven teachers who incorporated the history and culture of students to engage culturally and linguistically diverse students in Hawaii. The teachers in the Wyatt study were able to provide instructional content more relevant to their students by connecting learning and classroom practices to students' experiences. Through instructional practices that are culturally responsive, ELLs in the mainstream classroom can become more engaged because the content seems more relevant to them.

Key elements of the framework. CRP is based on three constructs: (a) academic success, (b) cultural competence, and (c) development of sociopolitical consciousness

(Ladson-Billings, 1995, p. 160). The three constructs of CRP are applied when teachers have high expectations for the academic success of all students; when teachers develop cultural competence by working to find out about students' backgrounds, cultures, and experiences; and when teachers include illustrations for sociopolitical consciousness by creating opportunities to address social inequities (Ladson-Billings, 1995). Each of these elements is described below.

Academic success. Proponents of CRP view academic success as students achieving academic excellence and empowerment due to teacher instruction. This empowerment is manifested when instruction connects to students' life experiences. Such empowerment results from teacher understanding and integration of student cultural experiences with instructional materials (Berumen & Silva, 2014). Understanding student culture, according to Berumen and Silva (2014), allows teachers to develop a classroom culture that provides the keys to academic success.

Moreover, academic success in diverse classrooms involves culturally relevant teaching strategies that motivate and engage student learners. Academic success, as a component of CRP, requires student engagement with culturally relevant instruction to support the teaching and learning process (Cole et al., 2016). Instructional practices that make education relevant and engaging to students can help teachers encourage academic success in the classroom. Cole et al. (2016) further stated that teachers could promote academic success by leveraging students' backgrounds and merging them into the learning process. Wyatt (2014) affirmed that CRP allows teachers to make engaging adjustments to instruction without compromising student achievement. When teachers

are provided with the proper support, ethnically diverse students can achieve academic success. Academic success forms one of the elements of the conceptual framework for this study because it often follows CRP. Academic success often appears to be a consequence of the effective use of CRP, a concept that guided the design of this study.

Cultural competence. Teachers who display cultural competence support the development of students' positive cultural identities through culturally relevant text selection and instructional support. Teachers demonstrate cultural competence when they recognize their students' values, knowledge, and family traditions as strengths (Ladson-Billings, 1995). Teachers support cultural competence by connecting student culture with academic content. Forming cultural competence, according to Ladson-Billings, requires incorporating positive cultural identities into classroom instructional practices. Cultural competence is characterized by teachers who assist students in maintaining their cultural identities through CRP instructional practices while promoting academic success (Samuels et al., 2017). When students can keep their cultural identities, they remain engaged in learning activities in the classroom. Preserving the cultural identities of students involves a student-centered approach that celebrates the contributions, cultures, and backgrounds of all students. Teachers encourage cultural competence when each student can relate classroom instructional content to his or her cultural background (Garcia & Garcia, 2016). By adopting the principles of cultural competence, Garcia and Garcia saw an increase in Spanish-speaking students' academic performance. Academic success was accomplished by tapping into the richness of learners' cultural backgrounds. In another study, Kumar (2018) found creative ways to incorporate diversity into

instructional practices, helping teachers support positive student cultural identities.

Kumar was able to do this by finding creative ways to connect instructional practices and CRP into classroom coursework. Instructional methods that relate to the backgrounds of students can enhance the cultural identities of students.

Cultural competence forms the second element of the conceptual framework of this study. Cultural competence links students' backgrounds with instructional practice. It fits as part of my study because linking students' cultures with classroom subject matter may promote academic success. Underwood and Mensah (2018) used cultural competence as a construct for their conceptual framework when investigating science teacher educators' perceptions of CRP to engage and empower diverse learners. They found that science teacher educators emulated the fundamentals for CRP by realizing a basic perception of cultural responsiveness. The authors concluded that teachers who were committed to culturally relevant instruction would affirm those cultures represented in the classroom to develop cultural competence (Underwood & Mensah, 2018). Zock (2015) investigated how elementary teachers designed instruction to build cultural competence among urban students by adding culture and language in the classroom. They were able to improve cultural competence through the selection of texts that included the positive accomplishments of ethnically diverse people. Linking students' culture with classroom subject matter, according to Hogan-Chapman, et al. (2017), is one of the keys to effective student learning. The authors found that cultural competence can bridge the gap between home and school cultures. By linking students' backgrounds with instructional practice, teachers may be able to develop strategies that will enhance performance among diverse learners.

Sociopolitical consciousness. The third element of the conceptual framework is sociopolitical consciousness. Sociopolitical consciousness originates from CRT, and encourages teachers to critically analyze their personal biases to promote equality and the social forces shaping society in ethnically diverse classrooms. It aligns with this study because fostering political, economic, and social equality is essential in sociopolitical conscious classrooms. Seider et al. (2018) used sociopolitical consciousness as a construct of their study by exploring the role schools play in fostering racial inequality and offering insight into developing instructional practices on racial and social inequality. Teachers who can analyze their personal biases are better equipped to assist and prepare students to become resilient to racial and social inequality.

Teachers can act as facilitators of sociopolitical consciousness by challenging the status quo and cultural norms. Sociopolitical consciousness refers to teachers' understanding of social challenges borne by learners within their own culture (Aronson & Laughter, 2016). Aronson and Laughter (2016) found that educators can meet these challenges by integrating social justice concepts into classroom instruction and by evaluating social inequalities faced in communities specific to the students in the class. Teaching diverse student populations consists of expanding the role educators' play to foster sociopolitical consciousness. Daniel (2016) affirmed that teachers can gain sociopolitical consciousness when they recognize and reflect on their personal biases and acknowledge the inequitable distribution of power within society. Daniel found that

personal preference becomes evident when nonminority teachers disregard the cultural differences of diverse student populations in their classrooms. Developing a stronger knowledge base of the cultural backgrounds and experiences of students and applying this knowledge to instructional practices can help teachers avoid personal bias and raise the sociopolitical consciousness of learners (Daniel, 2016). Having sociopolitical consciousness means that teachers should use knowledge about their students' cultural backgrounds to meet their educational needs and encourage students to recognize the conditions of injustice and inequalities in their communities (Gambrell, 2017). Sociopolitically conscious learning promotes students' capacity to become social change agents. Casting personal bias aside, culturally relevant educators understand and include instructional materials that represent their classroom demographics. Teachers who can associate issues of social disparities into the classroom may meet the educational needs of students whose ethnicities are different from their own (Gambrell, 2017).

One of the goals of the conceptual framework is to show relationships or interrelationships between the major elements of the framework. Academic success, cultural competence, and sociopolitical consciousness involve appropriate learning supports, culturally relevant text selection, and linking social disparities that establish relationships with students and their communities (Pena-Sandoval, 2017). According to Christ and Sharma (2018), the significant elements of the framework are also interrelated since they support student engagement, positive identity reinforcement, and expound upon the cultures and lived experiences of diverse students. DeCapua and Marshall (2015) pointed out that culturally relevant instruction begins when teachers develop

cultural competence through the recognition of students' lived experiences. Once cultural competence is established, teachers can demonstrate their commitment to CRP by creating a classroom culture of academic success by improving the higher-order thinking skills of all students (Underwood & Mensah, 2018). Finally, after teachers create a tenet of cultural competence and academic success, culturally competent teachers can facilitate an examination of social order and address social inequities while cultivating a sense of self-worth (Allen et al., 2017). Unlike cultural competence and academic success, sociopolitical consciousness may not be linked to improved academic performance. However, the lessons of sociopolitical consciousness may be so crucial that ELL instruction can only qualify as effective if it addresses social structure.

How the framework relates to the study's components. The primary research components for the study are the research problem, the purpose, the research questions (RQs), data collection, and data analysis. These are all guided by the conceptual framework. CRP served as a lens through which one may view content teachers' instructional practices and their perceptions about their practices when teaching ELLs.

The problem and purpose statements are defined, in part, by the conceptual framework. This is because effective ELL instructional practices are defined, for the purposes of this study, as practices that align with the constructs of CRP, including academic success, cultural competence, and sociopolitical consciousness. Effective instructional practices of teachers of ELLs, then, will demonstrate value for lived experiences of students (Mason, 2017), position students' lived experiences at the forefront of the learning process (Boyce & Chouinard, 2017), and encourage students to

recognize the conditions of injustice and inequality in their communities (Gambrell, 2017). Instructional methods that incorporate the history and culture of students can create the tenets of academic success, develop cultural competence, and cultivate a sense of self-worth through sociopolitical consciousness.

Similarly, CRP guides the research questions in that instructional practices for this study are defined as those that align with students' academic success, cultural competence, and the development of sociopolitical consciousness. To methodically address the purpose of the study, the research questions are aligned with the methodology (Yin, 2014). Heitner and Jennings (2016) aligned their research questions with the methodology to determine to what extent faculty members are knowledgeable about and use culturally responsive instructional practices. The findings revealed knowledge gaps educators had concerning culturally responsive instructional practices. The work of Heitner and Jennings is vital to this study, the conceptual framework, and the research questions because better knowledge of culturally responsive instructional practices align with students achieving cultural competence. To determine the benefit of integrating culturally responsive teaching strategies, Chen and Yang (2017) found that culturally responsive instructional strategies increased student engagement and enhanced communication skills in the classroom. The work of Chen and Yang is essential to this study, the conceptual framework, and the research questions because an engaged student could result in enhanced student performance. In addressing research questions on what teachers' prevailing attitudes are towards ELLs, Mellom et al. (2018) used data collected from a qualitative study on the effects of CRP teacher training on ELL academic

outcomes to understand how teachers incorporate culturally responsive instruction in culturally and linguistically diverse classrooms. The work of Mellom et al. is significant to this study, the conceptual framework, and my research questions because a better understanding of teachers' instructional practices using CRP can be aligned with the improved academic performance of ELLs. Samuels et al. (2017) explored how instructional approaches influenced teachers' understanding of CRP and cultivate increased socio-political consciousness in the classroom. The work of Samuels et al. is central to this study, the conceptual framework, and the research questions because increased socio-political awareness can promote racial equity in ethnically diverse classrooms. Teachers can incorporate instructional practices that encourage academic success, cultural competence, and socio-political consciousness in the classroom.

CRP guided the data collection through semi-structured interviews using openended questions. The interview protocols for several semi-structured interviews
originated from the constructs of the conceptual framework. Hoque (2018) provided an
example of this practice. The study also consisted of semi-structured interviews to
explore the components of the cultural identity of 16 British-born Bangladeshi Muslim
students. Hoque found that a culturally responsive education model in the curriculum can
provide a haven for students to explore their cultures. Hoque matched the interview
protocol with CRP to ensure that the conceptual framework aligned with data collection.
Other studies (Gist, 2017; Ragoonaden & Mueller, 2017) also aligned interview questions
with instructional practices and CRP. The semi-structured interview protocols of the

study, based on the constructs of CRP, are supported in the research literature as an appropriate practice for data collection.

Review of the Broader Problem

To explore the instructional practices of elementary content teachers of ELLs and how those practices are perceived by the teachers to be aligned with ELL improved academic performance, five areas of literature were reviewed: (a) CRC, (b) student engagement, (c) instructional practices, (d) culturally responsive instructional practices, and (e) teachers' beliefs about ELL instruction. CRC relates to this study because a curriculum that can connect lessons to student experiences is better able to serve classrooms made up of diverse learners (Wyatt, 2014). A CRC incorporates learning materials that depict the positive historical exploits of ethnically diverse students. According to Wyatt (2014), adjustments to the curriculum are necessary to engage and support culturally and linguistically diverse learners. Wyatt furthered stated that CRC adjustments include instructional materials that acknowledge students' backgrounds and lived experiences. Lei et al. (2018) asserted that a student who is enthusiastically engaged in their educational tasks performs better academically. Lei et al. found that a relationship existed between student engagement and academic achievement. Not only did engaged students perform better but student retention rates also improved.

A better understanding of how teachers perceive instructional practices will help prepare educators face the challenges that exist for culturally and linguistically diverse students (Feiman-Neimser, 2018; Wong et al., 2017). Feiman-Neimser stressed that teacher education programs should include courses on instructional practices that

evidence teacher understanding of ethnically diverse students' academic needs. Feiman-Neimser pointed out that teacher education programs that stress best practice instructional courses, will assist educators with ELLs, given the increase of ELLs in mainstream classrooms. The literature reviewed for this study, then, included these relevant elements, which identify the components that encompass the instructional practices of elementary content teachers of ELLs.

Culturally relevant curriculum. When the curriculum is meaningful, and the instruction matches their cultural background, students perform better. DeCapua (2016) found that teachers can reduce cultural differences by building on the cultural experience of students to enhance student performance. Meaningful curriculum and instruction incorporate content elements that recognize students as individuals who have unique histories and life experiences. Meaningful and matching achievements and familiar referents of ELLs are essential characteristics of a CRC (Dong, 2017). Familiar referents, according to Dong, include instructional materials that mirror ELL home culture and life experiences. While preparing teachers to teach subject matter content to ELLs, Dong also found that meaningful curriculum and instruction that make social studies learning experience relevant to taps into ELL learning styles and bridges their cultural backgrounds using familiar referents. A CRC goes beyond the biographies of notable historical figures and infuses content with meaning for ELLs (DeCapua & Marshall, 2015). A CRC accentuates the culture and prior knowledge of ELLs to bridge the instructional content presented in the classroom (Dong, 2017). A CRC can enhance students' academic success by engaging ELLs using their cultural and experiential

knowledge in classroom learning opportunities (Jaffe, 2016). Jaffe examined social study teachers who were able to engage ELLs through culturally and linguistically relevant materials. Meaningful CRC, according to Jaffe, is applied when implementing social studies instructional content that acknowledge students' culture and lived experiences. A CRC that matches student interest can result in engaged and better-performing students.

Proponents of a CRC surmised that students respond better when instruction materials relate students' school experiences with their cultural reality. This relationship can be accomplished by emphasizing the cultural backgrounds of diverse student populations (Samuels, 2018). Samuels explored perceptions of elementary teachers on being socio-culturally conscious and learning about students' lives. Learning about the lives of students helped teachers promote culturally relevant teaching by making applicable connections between curriculum materials and students' cultural experiences. Educators may benefit from viewing learning from the students' perspective by recognizing and authenticating students' cultures. Viewing learning from the perspective of students creates social relationships and a sense of community. Creating a sense of community builds relationships, which further strengthens the union between the teacher and student (Ragoonaden & Mueller, 2017). According to Cramer and Bennett (2015), teachers can connect with their students by employing instructional practices that are responsive to the cultural demographics in their classrooms. This practice is done by nurturing effective communication among students while connecting with their home environment. Learning about students' family and home life can help teachers promote successful interactions with ethnically diverse students within the classroom. In essence,

when students make sense of their world, they respond better by using prior knowledge, past experiences, and cultural references.

Connecting student cultural backgrounds through a CRC also encourages stronger teacher-student relationships. The teacher-student bond is fortified when teachers engage their students in classroom activity, culture, and community to facilitate an appealing environment for all learners. Teacher-student relationships can increase when teachers partner with family and community members to include instructional practices that reflect the communities of students (Garland & Bryan, 2017). Partnering with community and families can allow teachers to go beyond their own cultural biases and learn about their students' cultures. According to Kim and Pulido (2015), developing the academic skills of students from diverse experiences is enhanced when teachers have a deeper understanding of their students' cultural backgrounds. Students can become active and engaged participants when their cultural backgrounds become part of classroom instructional materials. Teachers are better able to respond to the cultural diversity of their students when they become more knowledgeable of their students' culture and community (Saint-Hilaire, 2014). Responding to students' cultural diversity can help communicate high expectations to culturally and linguistically diverse students. Overall, teachers' ability to link instructional practices to students' cultural backgrounds can increase the teacher-student bond.

Research indicates that a curriculum that mirrors the cultural identities of students may positively influence academic achievement. Heafner and Fitchett (2018) used a qualitative approach to examine U.S. history content knowledge among ethnically diverse

high school students. They found that the inclusion of a curriculum, which reflects the cultural identities of students, had a positive influence on student performance. An Item Response Theory, which employed multi-step data analysis procedures, was used to measure ethnic groups' differences in academic achievement when the curriculum content included material related to their cultural make-up. To make the curriculum more meaningful for students of color, Heafner and Fitchett found there was a need to develop content material, which included the history and culture of students. This study underscores the importance of instructional exposure to culturally relevant practices when improving student performance among culturally and linguistically diverse students. The addition of a CRC can help teachers respond to the learning needs of low performing students. Roofe (2017) revealed that a CRC could reduce the challenges that prevent students from achieving academically. Roofe concluded that the inclusion of a CRC could mitigate the obstacles that prevent students from succeeding academically. Data were obtained from seven primary school teachers through interviews and observations. The data were analyzed through CRP and human learning theory to explore how to meet the needs of low performing reading students. To corroborate responses received during the semi-structured interviews, observations were used to focus on the curriculum and student performance. Teachers expressed concerns that the traditional curriculum was not meeting the needs of students and recommended that a culturally responsive curriculum should be adopted (Roofe, 2017). Gaining a deeper understanding of the role a CRC plays in academic achievement can assist ethnically diverse students.

A CRC can also aid in students' development of critical thinking skills. Ross and Stevenson (2018) used a conceptual framework that included critical race theory. They found that African American students showed an increase in critical thinking skills and engagement when the curriculum was culturally relevant. Data analysis consisted of one-on-one interviews, writing activities, and observations of student behaviors in small and large group discussions, which highlighted student academic progress. Framed by the constructs of CRP, the literacy program implemented a broad range of audio-visual and literacy activities related to science and social studies. Ross and Stevenson (2018) found that by offering culturally relevant reading materials, African American students exhibited increased levels of critical thinking associated with enhanced student achievement. The qualitative findings (Heafner & Fitchett, 2018; Roofe, 2017; Ross & Stevenson, 2018) support the use of CRP strategies that can positively affect academic achievement.

Student engagement. Learning approaches that emphasize student engagement have been linked to increased academic achievement. Collie et al. (2017) examined the extent to which student engagement was associated with student performance and found that learning approaches that emphasize student engagement predicted academic achievement. Implementing learning approaches that increase student engagement may assist culturally and linguistically diverse students who experience language barriers. Engaging culturally and linguistically diverse students with meaningful and culturally relevant instructional materials may enhance student performance (Collie et al., 2017). Investigating the relationship between student engagement and academic performance,

Balwant et al. (2018) found that student engagement was a crucial mechanism in connection with academic achievement. Samples of 183 undergraduate students studying at colleges across the UK were given questionnaires to measure student engagement. Balwant et al. further stated that academic achievement is positively affected when students are highly engaged and fully invested emotionally and cognitively in the classroom. Kim and Pulido (2015) studied the teaching practices of teachers who made instruction engaging and culturally relevant to students. Through hip-hop pedagogy, Kim and Pulido found students to be more engaged in the learning process when the content was relevant. The researchers conducted teacher interviews for one year to foster academic achievement by making the instruction engaging and relevant to ethnically diverse youth. Supporting student engagement involves selecting culturally relevant instruction and pedagogy (Christ & Sharma, 2018). Appropriate text selection includes knowledge about student's culture and background experience. Christ and Sharma (2018) found that engagement of students could be done through professional development, which focused on teachers learning about students' histories, backgrounds, and identities. When given a chance to view the cultural contributions through the curriculum and instructional support materials, teachers can sustain students' cultural competence. Improving student engagement using CRP can assist students in reaching their full academic potential.

Student engagement has also been linked to increased student retention rates. To evaluate the connection between student engagement, high school dropout rates, and student performance, Renda and Villares (2017) also found that student engagement

results in high school completion. They found that, when students were compared, the students who participated in a program that promoted engagement had significantly higher retention and performance rates than students who did not participate in the program. Kimbark et al. (2017) also found a significant positive relationship between engagement and academic achievement. They studied the influence of a Student Success Course (SCC) on retention, academic achievement, and student engagement. Data were collected from 432 SCC participants, and non-SCC participants and the Chi-square Test of Independence revealed that differences in proportions between nonparticipants and participants were significant. This study supported the view that student performance and retention become evident when programs emphasize student engagement.

CRP integrates teaching strategies that engage students by connecting home and school cultures. One of the goals of culturally relevant teaching, according to Davis and McCarther (2015), is to use strategies that acknowledge the importance of student culture and connect home experiences with student learning. Connecting home and school involves activities and assignments, which align with student backgrounds and experiences. Teaching strategies that include CRP in culturally and linguistically diverse classrooms improve the engagement of learners (Hoque, 2018). Connecting home and school cultures through CRP encourage students to become engaged learners. Teachers who use CRP respond to the social and cultural perspectives of learners and engage students by connecting with their cultural backgrounds through instruction and curriculum (Wu, 2016). Students who were formerly disengaged can become more engaged in learning once they connect their culture to instruction.

Instruction that links ELL prior knowledge can enhance student engagement. Christ and Sharma (2018) studied instruction that mirrored the lived experiences of culturally and linguistically diverse students and found that teacher training should focus on teachers learning about student cultural backgrounds and applying this knowledge to culturally responsive text selection. Emergent coding and constant comparative analysis were used to identify the categories of challenges and successes that 17 pre-service teachers had in selecting and implementing culturally relevant texts. Once instructional materials are selected, it is essential to incorporate them into classroom lessons that connect with diverse students' backgrounds. Jaffe (2016) used a collective case study design to investigate how four social studies teachers were able to connect their instructional practices with ELL cultural experiences and found that students became better engaged when instruction reflected on their lived experiences. From that point, teachers were able to build upon those experiences to promote academic success. Jaffe employed research methods of data analysis, inquiry, and collection to document how ELLs were taught in a social studies classroom. This study provided insight into how best to meet the needs of ELLs using culturally responsive instruction to engage students in the social science classroom. Students are more engaged when instructional materials mirror their lived experiences.

Culturally responsive instructional practices. Instructional practices that embrace student culture can increase student performance. Lopez (2016) used hierarchical linear modeling to investigate the link between culturally relevant instruction (CRI) and student performance. Lopez found that incorporating instructional practices

student performance in reading across Grades 3 and 5. Questionnaires were distributed to study participants, which included 244 Latino students and their 16 teachers, to determine the degree to which teachers incorporated culture into the classroom experience of culturally and linguistically diverse students. Lopez concluded that there was a positive relationship between instructional strategies that focused on student culture and experience and students' reading achievement. Berumen and Silva (2014) also found that academic success can be achieved with instructional practices that emphasize student cultures. Teachers in this study were able to accomplish this by creating a culturally relevant classroom, which was achieved by infusing materials with real-life experiences that engaged the students. Berumen and Silva analyzed the narratives of pre-service teachers who used these materials with elementary students. Improving student performance among ethnically diverse students requires instructional practices that embrace student cultures.

There is a need to understand the challenges teachers face when they employ instructional practices to teach students from diverse backgrounds. According to Rubinstein-Avila and Lee (2014), many teachers feel inadequate because of their limited knowledge about how to teach ELLs. They further stated that the increase of ELLs and the lack of teacher instructional strategies have accounted for low academic achievement scores on state standardized testing. Teachers may become better equipped in the classroom by employing effective instructional practices for ELLs. Howard and Rodriguez-Scheel (2017) examined the self-efficacy beliefs of pre-service teachers. They

found that teachers who had favorable attitudes toward culturally relevant instruction demonstrated the most growth when connecting with culturally and linguistically diverse students. The quantitative study utilized pre- and posttest measures of the Multicultural Efficacy Scale to evaluate the challenges faced by undergraduate early-childhood teachers because of changes in student demographics and to instruct teachers on how to embrace CRI. The results supported the need to create opportunities for pre-service teachers to pair with mentor teachers who practice the concept of CRI in the classroom regularly. A better understanding of classroom challenges can assist teachers when employing CRI strategies.

Due to the growth of student diversity in the classroom, presenting culturally relevant instruction may be beneficial for all students. Lecture-based U.S. public schools are culturally relevant for high achieving European American students (USDOE, 2017b). According to Paul (2015), this lecture-based, Eurocentric instruction favors European American students. Now, classrooms are densely populated with ethnically diverse students, particularly students of Hispanic/Latino(a) origin (Bryant, 2017). Student-centered, culturally relevant instructional practices that engage ethnically diverse students can be incorporated in the classroom. Therefore, this demographic shift should influence classroom instructional practices that match student dynamics in the school.

Student-centered instructional practices and materials benefit learners when they acknowledge the positive historical contributions of children who are ethnically different from European American children. Conversely, Eurocentric approaches to instruction have, historically, enforced a master narrative that has left many non-White students

disillusioned with the curriculum's cultural dismissiveness. The student-centered approach engages ethnically diverse students by highlighting their historical accomplishments (Bissonnette & Glazier, 2016). Gambrell (2017) stated that many textbooks provide a mono-cultural view, which reinforces White privilege despite the growing diversity in public schools. Paul (2015) suggested that student-centered instructional practices could offer a healthy alternative to mono-cultural books. Ethnically diverse students may benefit from instructional materials that include their historical accomplishments.

elementary content teachers' perceptions of their instructional practice that supports ELL learning is vital. Gomez and Diarrassouba (2014) conducted a study of the perceptions of elementary teachers who taught culturally and linguistically diverse students and found that teachers were not adequately prepared to teach ELLs. Eighty percent of the teachers surveyed stated that they felt they were prepared to teach in a culturally diverse classroom; however, it was determined that they lacked the cultural knowledge to implement instructional practices that were suitable for the history and backgrounds of ELLs. A mixed-method research approach was used to explore the correlation between their understanding of their ELLs' learning needs and teacher preparation. Data from 116 K-8th-grade teachers were collected and examined through a web-based survey using a Pearson *chi*-square test to determine whether observations on two or more variables were independent of one another. Research has conclusively shown that teachers who have

developed cultural competency are likely to be more successful at meeting heterogeneous learners' academic needs.

Pappamihiel and Lynn, (2016) studied 156 ELL teachers who were asked their perceptions concerning instructional and linguistic accommodations needed to support ELL academic performance and discovered that many of the participants were not comfortable implementing the adjustments. These accommodations addressed the individual skills and challenges faced by ELL students. Data were analyzed using basic descriptive statistics from information collected from an online survey. Teachers were asked to give examples of and explain the differences between instructional and linguistic accommodations. The researchers concluded that mainstream teachers need to be better equipped to implement adequate linguistic and instructional accommodations to improve the academic performance of ELLs in the classroom. Teachers who are confident in using their expertise applying instructional strategies that accommodate the linguistic trials ELLs face may be able to enhance student performance.

According to Grasparil and Hernandez (2015), ELL high dropout rates were attributed to poor literacy achievement. The researchers found that implementing effective reading instructional practices may enhance student performance among ELLs. Grasparil and Hernandez revealed that a mismatch between a widely used reading program component and ELL instructional needs accounted for poor literacy performance. They used a multiple regression analysis to predict reading comprehension results among third grade ELLs to examine the achievement gap between non-ELLs and ELLs. Grasparil and Hernandez concluded that effective instructional strategies for

ELLs should consider activities that include verbal reading articulacy, phonemic cognizance, language, phonics, and comprehension. Instructional practices that are research-based may increase the graduation and literacy performance among linguistically challenged students.

Teachers' beliefs about ELL instruction. ELLs' educational experiences can be positively or negatively shaped by a teacher's actions and dependent on the teacher's beliefs and instructional approaches. Murphy and Torff (2019), collected surveys from teachers that investigated their opinions on the rigor of classroom activities. They found that the participants favored a less vigorous curriculum for ELLs as opposed to non-ELLs. A less rigorous curriculum, according to the authors, may contribute to the academic achievement gap that exists among ELLs and non-ELL students. Respondents were asked to rate the activities for both groups, high and low, in which they assessed the effectiveness of classroom activities. For ELLs to receive an equitable education, the authors concluded that teacher educators need to develop effective strategies to assist teachers. These strategies that target teachers' beliefs may have the potential to enhance ELL student performance.

Researchers also focused on how teachers' beliefs guided their curriculum decisions and their impact on students learning opportunities. Using qualitative methods, de Araujo (2017) examined how teachers' beliefs manifested in their selection of tasks based on the linguistic and mathematical abilities of ELLs. de Araujo found that the impact of teachers' benign teaching beliefs and practices need to be critically explored to counter potential negative educational experiences of ELLs. Data sources included semi-

structured interviews, observations, and surveys of certified English as Second Language math teachers. Each teacher's selection of tasks was analyzed to understand better how their beliefs about ELLs determine curriculum selections. de Araujo concluded that teachers must embrace the cultural and linguistic diversity ELLs bring to the classroom and give students the tools necessary to engage in challenging mathematics. The tasks teachers select based on their beliefs about their students may impact ELLs' academic performance.

Teacher beliefs may impact his or her behavior, thus impacting student learning in the classroom. Examining the opinions of teachers before and after an ELL course on second language acquisition and assessment, Clark-Goff and Eslami (2016) found that teacher beliefs can be altered to overcome misconceptions regarding ELLs. A survey was designed to measure teachers' pre-existing beliefs about teaching ELLs via semistructured focus group interviews. To capture participants' views about English language learning and teaching, Clark-Goff and Eslami used descriptive analysis. Uncovering teachers' beliefs concerning ELLs can be crucial if those beliefs translate to teachers having lower student performance expectations for ELLs.

To explore the instructional practices of elementary content teachers of ELLs and how those practices are perceived by the teachers to be aligned with ELL improved academic performance, five areas of literature were reviewed: (a) culturally relevant curriculum, (b) student engagement, (c) culturally responsive instructional practices, (d) effective instructional practices for ELLs, and (e) teachers' beliefs about ELLs. CRP framed the research design components of this study, which is based on three constructs:

(a) academic success, (b) cultural competence, and (c) development of sociopolitical consciousness. Also, through the literature, this researcher explored instructional practices intended to support ELL learning and teachers' perspectives about which methods are most effective.

Implications

The findings from this study were used to develop a project. The project took the form of a policy paper designed to inform the efforts of the local school district to improve instructional practices for ELLs. This project also added to what is known about the education of ELLs by providing information on the instructional practices of elementary content teachers. By examining how a group of teachers see their role in delivering instruction and understanding their practices, it may assist similar schools when considering the instructional practices of teachers. This study contributed to positive social change by producing a deeper understanding of instructional methods that can inform academic improvement efforts for ELLs.

Summary

The local setting reveals uncertainty about the instructional practices utilized by elementary content teachers, who may or may not be using CRP to support ELL learning. This qualitative study addressed a need to explore the instructional practices of elementary content teachers of ELLs and how those practices are perceived by the teachers to be aligned with improved ELL academic performance.

Section 1 contained the introduction to the study, the definition of the problem, rationale, evidence of the problem at the local level, evidence of the problem from the

professional literature, definition of terms, the significance of the study, research questions, review of the literature, conceptual frameworks and study implications.

Section 2 includes descriptions of the study's methodology, including the participants, the data collection, the analysis processes, and the study's limitations.

Section 2: The Methodology

The purpose of this case study was to explore the instructional practices of elementary content teachers of ELLs and how the teachers perceive those practices to be aligned with improved ELL academic performance. In Section 2, the qualitative research design is presented and supported. Sampling strategies, data collection, data analysis, and other procedures are explained, followed by a discussion of the trustworthiness and limitations of the study.

Qualitative Research Design and Approach

The problem that this study addressed was a need to explore the instructional practices of elementary content teachers of ELLs and how the teachers perceive those practices to be aligned with improved ELL academic performance. This researcher used an exploratory case study methodology, which appropriately addressed the research questions:

- RQ 1: What instructional practices do elementary content teachers say they use to support ELL learning?
- RQ 2: What practices are perceived to be aligned with improved ELL academic performance?

Both questions are exploratory in nature, framed by a specific setting, and require qualitative analysis to be addressed (see Lodico et al., 2013). An exploratory case study is a suitable approach if (a) the literature provides limited information about the phenomena, and (b) there is a need for further exploration of the phenomenon (Baxter & Jack, 2008). According to the supervisor of program evaluation at the schools of interest

for the study, administrators were unsure which instructional practices are utilized by elementary content teachers of ELLs. Thus, an exploratory case study design was an appropriate method to gain in-depth information related to the research problem from semi-structured interviews with teachers' perspectives and qualitative analysis of lesson plans (see Yin, 2014).

Other researchers have endorsed the use of an exploratory case study for similar studies. Prince (2018) used an exploratory case study to understand better how teachers enhanced their instructional practices with ELLs in the classroom. Likewise, the aim of this research was to understand the aspects of teachers' instructional practices with ELLs. Another example that substantiates the use of an exploratory case study is Rodriguez-Arroyo's and Vaughns's (2015) study on the preparation processes for teacher candidates before working with ELLs. As was the case for Prince's research and the current study, an exploratory case study served Arroyo and Vaughns well as a methodology to address the study's research questions. The data collected from an exploratory case study conducted by Vu and Feinstein (2017) provided answers for the what, how, and why type of questions when gaining a better understanding of student performance and teacher perception of game-based learning in STEM classrooms. Guzey and Ring-Whalen (2018) chose an exploratory case study because there was little research that documented teacher perceptions regarding engineering integration in the science curriculum. Therefore, an exploratory case study is the best choice to address the need to explore the instructional practices of elementary content teachers of ELLs and how those practices are perceived by the teachers to be aligned with improved ELL academic performance.

Description of the Qualitative Tradition

An exploratory case study was used to identify and support statements from the participants to deepen understanding of the phenomenon (Merriam, 1998). An exploratory case study can be conducted to address research questions qualitatively and is intended to explore those situations for further examination of the event being investigated, especially when the outcomes of a phenomenon are not evident (Yin, 2014). For example, Marschall and Andrews (2015) chose an exploratory case study design when they investigated teacher perceptions of the teaching of linear equations. Similarly, in this study, it was unclear what instructional practices the teachers were using and what outcomes were presumed to result.

Justification of Research Design

An exploratory case study design was selected as appropriate for the following reasons. An exploratory case study can be used to gain an in-depth understanding of the instructional practices of elementary content teachers of ELLs and how those practices are perceived by the teachers to be aligned with improved academic performance (Merriam, 1998). An exploratory case study provided an enhanced understanding of pedagogical strategies content teachers use to teach ELLs in mainstream classrooms. This is because the exploratory case study can be used to obtain in-depth and detailed information from participants using qualitative data collection, such as semi-structured interviews and document analysis (Yin, 2014). Comprehensive and accurate information was needed to address the purpose of this study. Exploratory case studies can be used as a research design when up-front information is limited about a topic or study (Lodico et

al., 2013). Payne and Burrack (2017) selected an exploratory case study to explore preservice teachers' ePortfolio processes and their connection to teacher effectiveness. Their exploratory case study strategy was suitable to investigate performance and development within the instructional practices. The exploratory case study brought an understanding of the phenomenon of elementary content teachers' instructional practices of ELLs

Most of the literature concerning the study topic was not quantitative, as qualitative research lends itself to examining the perceptions of the participants of this study (Merriam, 2009). Other likely choices of methodology were considered and not chosen. Ethnographies, grounded theory studies, and phenomenology were among those considered for the present research study but were determined to be less effective than an exploratory case study.

Ethnography. Ethnographies are used to describe an entire culture group in a natural setting over a prolonged period. The considerations usually include the language, beliefs, and ideas of those within the culture that develops over time (Creswell, 2013; Merriam, 2009). The researcher develops a close relationship with participants who are being researched (Lodico et al., 2013) with the aim of acquiring a deeper understanding of human nature and culture (Merriam, 2002). Incorporating an ethnographic study is suitable when there is a culture-sharing group to study. Because the intent of the present study was not to represent shared cultural knowledge, ethnography was not chosen as the methodology.

Grounded theory. Another method of qualitative research, grounded theory, incorporates an inductive approach for analyzing data over a long period to build a theory

from the ground up (Lodico et al., 2015). Grounded theory proceeds through a process that forms an approach by systematically collecting data, identifying themes, and then connecting these themes (Creswell, 2013; Yin, 2017). The present study was not an attempt to build theory regarding teacher's perception of culturally relevant instruction. In the case of this study, the specific problem addressed the need to explore the instructional practices of elementary content teachers of ELLs and how those practices are perceived by the teachers to be aligned with improved ELL academic performance.

Phenomenology. According to Merriam (2002), phenomenologists are interested in capturing interpretations as they pertain to the participants' perceptions by equating, evaluating, and connecting the lived experiences of the phenomenon. The information received from participants in phenomenological research describes what the experience was as well as how it was experienced. Phenomenology refers to how people receive, remember, and evaluate a phenomenon and how it relates to other people (Patton, 2015). Phenomenological methods were inappropriate to answer the research questions because the purpose of this study was to increase understanding of the lived experiences of the teacher participants. Ethnography, grounded theory, and phenomenology do not offer the opportunity to obtain sufficient insight about the instructional practices of content elementary teachers and practices they perceive to be aligned with improved ELL academic performance. The exploratory case study is more appropriate for obtaining rich, in-depth descriptions provided through interviews and teachers' lesson plans.

Participants

The participants selected for this qualitative study included content elementary teachers who have ELL students in their classrooms at the study site. Purposeful sampling was the qualitative method used to select participants because this type of sampling allows the researcher to gain insights from the criteria-based study (Merriam, 2014), the participants can maximize the subject matter based on their knowledge and experience (Creswell, 2015; Merriam, 2009), and the researcher can select participants with similar attributes who have fundamental knowledge related to the study's purpose (Lodico et al., 2010). The selection criteria for the participants were: (a) they must be regular content teachers, and (b) they must have ELLs in their classroom at some point in their tenure.

Number of Participants Justified

According to Merriam (2014), an adequate number of participants is needed; however, this number can vary widely depending upon the research question. The numbers of participants selected were sufficient for added balance and the depth inquiry for this study (Creswell, 2013; Fusch & Ness, 2015). A small sample size of eight to 10 participants is large enough for a diverse group (Fusch & Ness, 2015). Creswell (2013) and Yin (2014) agreed that the sample size should be small enough to gather in-depth data on each participant and provide a sense of uniqueness that will allow patterns to emerge from respondents. The sample size selected should prove sufficient in exploring teacher perceptions about their instructional practices and how these practices are aligned with improved academic performances of ELLs. Creswell and Creswell (2017) and

Palinkas et al. (2015) suggested that a small number of participants can be used, but the researcher should remember that the data extracted must yield an in-depth discovery of information. Fusch and Ness (2015) stated that as few as six interviews could provide enough data to reach saturation. Chen and Yang (2017) used only three participants to examine the implementation of culturally relevant instructional strategies in an ESL classroom. With fewer participants, the researcher can make a more in-depth analysis of the data. If the number of participants is too low, a snowball, chain, or network sampling may be employed to find additional willing participants (Merriam, 2014). The sample size for the study was deemed appropriate.

Procedure for Gaining Access to Participants

This project study was made possible through a partnership agreement between Walden University and the school district. To gain access to participants, I completed an application form written to the district's review board. Next, I obtained a letter of cooperation from the appropriate district administrator and all other materials required completing the IRB application. Once written IRB approval was granted, I obtained contact information from the administrator. I contacted all potential participants who met the selection criteria with an invitation to participate using email addresses publicly listed on the school's website. The communication included informed consent, emphasizing that participation was voluntary, and there would be no repercussions for nonparticipation.

The purpose of the informed consent in writing was to ensure that each participant understood that participation was voluntary, and each teacher could withdraw at any

point during the study. Participants were asked to sign the consent forms electronically and return via email. They were also informed that responses would be kept confidential, no identifying information would be used at any phase in the study, and no harm or adverse effects would result from participating in the study. Participants received a follow-up email with a list of time slots to schedule a date for their audio

FreeConferenceCall.com interviews. They were given the option of using their personal email for future contact, if desired. If they were unable to meet during the time slots listed, I arranged to accommodate their schedules appropriately.

Establishing Rapport

There are several ways to develop the researcher/participant relationship. Glesne (2015) stated the importance of fostering trust to develop a good rapport among participants. To build rapport, first, I warmly communicated with each participant. I carefully provided a pleasant tone in all my communications before and during the interview process (Baur et al., 2010). As noted earlier, I accommodated each participant's schedule when arranging interview times. Researchers who are courteous and respectful toward their participants have a better opportunity to receive positive feedback during the interview process (Merriam, 2009). At each semi-structured interview, I engaged in some polite, casual conversation with the participants to establish a sense of comfort and rapport. I gently encouraged them to ask any questions they may have relating to the study. Also, a researcher who is impartial, nonjudgmental, and skilled in listening can maximize participant response and interaction (Elmir et al., 2011). Since I was not personally in the room with the teachers, it was challenging for some of

them to set up and operate FreeConferenceCall.com. The participants were advised that the FreeConferenceCall.com interview would take an hour or less. Establishing a good rapport was essential in putting the participants at ease during the interview process.

Protection of Participants Rights

I took the following measures to make sure that the participants were protected from any adverse consequences that could result from participating in the study. To maintain participant confidentiality, I did not use the names of the teachers, the school, or the school district during the study (Glesne, 2011). Each participant's identity and interview data will be kept private and confidential (Butz & Stupnisky, 2017). Also, the name of the school district remained confidential. I contacted participants by school email and phone, if necessary, to schedule times for the interviews. The virtual interviews took place at a mutually agreed upon time and date that was conducive to his or her schedule. The subjects were given the option to participate in the interviews from their homes or any quiet place where they were able to provide appropriate responses. The interviews were audio-recorded using FreeConferenceCall.com. To protect the participants, physical notes will be kept in a locked drawer, and digital recording will be held in a password-protected computer. All recorded data stored in my personal computer will be deleted after 5 years from the date of the final study. The individual interview transcripts were automatically transcribed from the audio recordings. As stated earlier, the informed consent was provided both verbally and in writing to ensure that each participant understood that participation was voluntary, and each teacher could voluntarily withdraw at any point during the study.

Data Collection

Data collection is a necessary process when exploring the instructional practices of elementary content teachers of ELLs and how those practices are perceived by the teachers to be aligned with improved academic performance. I began data collection procedures with elementary content teachers using interviews to gain an understanding of their perceptions regarding their classroom ELL instructional practices (see Appendix B). The interview data were collected between May 2019 and January 2020. Each interview took place outside of school hours in a setting selected by the teacher for privacy. The interviews were scheduled for 1 hour, and each interview was recorded using FreeConferenceCall.com as an audio recording system. I informed the participants that I planned to take field notes during the interviews. The interview questions were designed to elicit the participants' perspectives and practices regarding their instructional practices of ELLs. I transcribed the interviews into a Microsoft Word Document within 24 hours of each session. I also collected lesson plans used by teachers in the classroom to support their responses. The feedback provided by the participants allowed any necessary changes to the transcripts before coding began.

Mack et al. (2011) stated that data collection in a case study usually takes the form of in-depth, one-on-one interviews with participants who have the knowledge to contribute to a specific issue. In-depth interviews are essential to understanding participants' thoughts and beliefs and are more useful than surveys at gaining a deeper understanding of these beliefs (Merriam, 2014). An ideal means of capturing the lived experiences of participants, according to Guest et al. (2013), is through a formant of

open-ended questions during the interview process. Qualitative researchers, who are engaged in the one-on-one interview process, collect data and ask probing questions one participant at a time (Creswell, 2013; Merriam, 2009). To ensure a thorough understanding of the participant's perceptions, probing questions are used as follow-up based upon the responses of participants (Hu et al., 2014). Semi-structured interviews allowed greater flexibility in obtaining additional data because I was able to ask probing questions.

Data Collection Instrumentation

Data collection instrumentation came in the form of semi-structured interviews and the review and analysis of lesson plans. Semi-structured interviews allow the researcher to use more latitude when wording and responding to interview questions (Merriam, 2014). To ensure the validity of the questionnaire, the interview protocol (see Appendix B) was submitted to a panel of experts for review. All members of the panel were qualitative experts with over 15 years of experience. The second form of data collection instrumentation was the evaluation of lesson plans. The table used to collect data from the lesson plans (see Appendix D) was based on the Frequency of Instructional Methods developed to identify types of instructional methods utilized by school personnel (Lopez & Mason, 2017). This table included the types of instructional activities employed to meet school standards and learning objectives, which ensured valid data collection.

Sufficiency of instruments. The initial strategy of the data collection came from semi-structured interviews. Semi-structured interviews using open-ended questions

elicited responses from participants allowing the researcher to develop emerging themes during the interview process (Legard, Keegan, Ward, & Yeo, 2013). Semi-structured interviews helped provide full and in-depth responses to the research questions on what teachers perceived improved ELL academic performance. According to Merriam (2014), open-ended questions also help researchers construct new ideas. The interviews provided information about teachers' instructional practices and allowed participants to give their perceptions and expound upon their experiences (Creswell, 2014; Kvale, 2008). Semistructured interviews are ideal for participants who are knowledgeable about their subject matter and who can share their perceptions easily. I composed open-ended questions to permit participants opportunities to respond in the least restrictive way, and for me to probe for deeper understanding. The chart used to align the interview questions with the research questions (Appendix E) was carefully developed using Chaparro's et al. (2015) Questions to Guide Instruction. This allowed me to gain a rich and deep understanding of the participants' perspectives and, thereby, obtain answers to the study's research questions.

The second strategy of the data collection consisted of lesson plans analysis. I requested teacher lesson plans from the individual participants via email. The data from the lesson plans provided a recurrent view of the objectives of lessons taught to ELLs by the participants. A review of the lesson plan documents was also conducted to triangulate the findings from interviews. As Hatch (2002) indicated, lesson plans are useful in providing evidence of teacher instructional strategies. According to Glesne (2011), lesson plans can be used to authenticate the instructional practices that teachers

use to support ELL learning (RQ 2). The use of lesson plans is also endorsed by Zhou and Xu (2017) who used lesson plans to gain a better understanding of teacher candidates' instructional practices. They used lesson plans to triangulate data with other data sources in their study. Teachers' lesson plans, according to Castro (2015), can identify the needs of ELLs based on their academic strengths and challenges. Lesson plans reflect the way teachers adopt instructional materials and how learning theory is translated into practice (Choy et al., 2013).

Process for how and when data are generated, gathered, and recorded.

Walden University partnered with an urban school district in the Midwest to investigate the instructional practices of elementary content teachers of ELLs and how those practices are perceived to align with improved ELL academic performance. The data gathered were comprised of interviews and lesson plans from nine elementary content teachers. Semi-structured interviews were selected as the first phase of the data collection technique to answer the research questions. Each participant was interviewed one time, and a second interview was not required. Adding semi-structured interviews allowed me to focus on the purpose, goals, progress, and success of elementary content teachers' use of instructional practices that align with ELL academic performance. The interviews lasted approximately 50 minutes and teachers were aware they could ask for clarification if needed. During the interview, I used a system of member checking consisting of reflective follow-up questions. Telephone interviews were recorded and automatically transcribed into an audio file using FreeConferenceCall.com (Oates, 2015). I informed participants of the processes on the remote consent forms before conducting

the interviews. I prompted participants to respond to 12 interview questions. The interview questionnaire (see Appendix B) included a mix of questions to elicit information, opinions, thoughts, feelings, and impressions. The audio file was copied unto a word document and then uploaded in NVivo, creating an interview transcript for each participant.

Process for tracking data from instruments. Within the NVivo software, I recorded and tracked each interview (Lewis, 2015). Upon completion of the interviews, I converted the recordings by transcribing and reading the interviews (Creswell, 2013; Oates, 2015). I closed each interview by asking participants to provide a copy of their weekly lesson plans via email to answer research questions as the second phase of data collection; seven out of nine participants complied. I used a checklist to track and determine how teachers incorporated instructional practices to improve ELL learning. I created and kept individualized files for each participant on one flash drive. The data collected during the study was only used for the purpose of the project study. Lesson plan documents indicated several teaching methods to meet the varying learning styles of students. Additionally, lesson plan documents served as evidence of elementary content teachers' plan to provide instructional practices to meet the academic needs of ELLs. I was able to compare the information provided in the lesson plans to the information collected from the participants' responses to the interview questions.

There were no exit or follow-up interviews, but participants participated in member checking. Due to the nature of this exploratory case study and the subsequent data collection, all data were stored on electronic media, specifically, my personal

computer. Data were backed up on a flash drive and password protected. Following the conclusion of the study, data will be stored for a mandatory five years. Following the necessary wait period, all data will be deleted from the computer and the flash drive will be destroyed.

Procedures for gaining access to participants. To gain access to elementary content teachers, I completed an application form written to the district's review board. Once written IRB approval was granted, I sent a written request to research in the school district via email to the supervisor of program evaluation to obtain permission. The request included a detailed description of the study. Once I received district cooperation, I submitted the document to Walden University's IRB for final approval. Upon obtaining final approval (Walden IRB 05-17-19-0290825), I received notification from the districts' supervisor of program evaluation of the elementary schools willing to participate in my study. I sent an email to each principal, thanking them for their approval, and included a remote interview consent form for their review. I then sent emails to 101 potential participants from three elementary schools who met the selection criteria with an invitation to participate, using email addresses publicly listed on each school's website. Participants who met the selection criteria of elementary content teachers were asked to sign the consent forms electronically and return via email. If I did not receive a response from the potential participants after a 1-week duration, I sent them a follow-up email and invitation on a weekly basis. I repeated the process until a sample of nine elementary content teachers was met.

The interview consent form articulated the study's purpose, participant expectations, data collection procedures, and confidentiality methods. The interview consent form included a clear indication that their participation in the study was strictly on a volunteer basis and that their identity would remain confidential through encoding during the entire data collection and reporting process. Also included was contact information of the Walden University's representative if they had questions concerning the study. They then sent the invitation back via email with consent. Consenting participants received a follow-up email with a list of time slots to schedule a date for their telephone interviews. They were given the option of using their personal email for future contact if desired. If they were unable to meet during the time slots listed, I arranged to accommodate their schedules appropriately. Before each interview began, I explained to the participants their rights and provided an opportunity for the participants to ask questions.

Role of the Researcher

My role as the researcher in this project study was to select and interview the participants, record the findings, document through audio, transcripts, and field notes, and analyze the data and the perceptions of participants (Creswell & Creswell, 2017; Merriam, 2009). I asked questions that helped answer the research question, sought to establish a good rapport with each participant, and interpreted the responses (McIntosh & Morse, 2015). I interviewed the participants, gathered all the data, organized the data, coded the responses, and identified emergent themes (Cho & Lee, 2014; Creswell, 2014).

I used emerging data themes to help understand what had been discovered as well as to indicate possible new directions for data collection.

At the time of the study, I had no relationship with the students, employees, or parents that are affiliated with the school of interest. I serve as the Minority Business Coordinator at a different public school district. Before this role, I served as a Supply Chain Manager for the district and taught first grade at a local private school. As such, there is no conflict of interest regarding my relationship with the potential participants.

Data Analysis

The data analysis was initiated by examining the questions developed before the interview and by using questions guided by the coding process. I used a priori coding aligned to the conceptual framework, then followed with open coding of all data collected, and finalized the coding process through axial coding to interpret the results of the interviews and lesson plans. Recorded interview transcriptions were downloaded and stored on my password-protected computer in a word document. Data from the word document were coded and analyzed within 24 hours of the interviews. The transcribed audio recordings in the word document were sent to the participants for their review. Returning the transcripts to the participants, confirmed the accuracy of the interview transcripts (Mero-Jaffe, 2011). Only one of the participants submitted corrections from the transcripts.

A Priori Coding of Interview Data

During the first stage of the analysis, I read all the interview transcripts to familiarize myself with the data. In the first review, I did not write any notes or create

any codes; I familiarized myself with the data. Next, I reread each transcript. During the second reading of the data, I began to record my initial impressions. I used a priori codes which were based on the conceptual framework. The a priori codes consisted of the constructs of CRP: (a) academic success, (b) cultural competence, and (c) development of sociopolitical consciousness (Ladson-Billings, 1995, p. 160). I coded these constructs in each of the transcribed interviews. A different color was used to highlight each construct as an a priori code. I made notes in the margins of the transcriptions to interpret various details about the a priori (Lodico et al., 2013). For an example of this practice, see Koss (2015), who used a priori codes to identify patterns of diversity. A priori codes were helpful in identifying patterns and themes that align with the conceptual framework while encompassing the instructional practices of elementary content teachers of ELLs.

Open Coding of Interview Data

On the third reading of the data, I began looking for emerging codes. For stage two, I used open coding once a priori coding was completed to organize my findings according to the themes, which naturally emerged from the data (Cho & Lee, 2014; Creswell, 2014). When I reviewed the transcripts again, I copied and pasted the highlighted data into an Excel spreadsheet. In a qualitative study, the researcher analyzes the data by reducing the information into themes, which are made up of statements made most frequently by participants (Creswell, 2013; Holton, 2010). During the second level of coding, I displayed the interview transcripts using an Excel spreadsheet. The spreadsheet allowed the transcripts to be easily and quickly evaluated by exhibiting the data by participant, school, and grade level. Next, after listening to tapes, I coded the

themes and concepts, eliminating redundancies (Creswell, 2013; Merriam, 2009). I then highlighted open codes using a different color to related themes that emerged from the transcripts. I then copied and pasted the open codes into another Excel spreadsheet. I compared a priori code with the open codes formulated from the data onto separate spreadsheets. The open coding was placed into categories that became themes.

Axial Coding of Interview Data

Then following open coding, axial coding involved generating categories and investigating possible connections found in the data (Merriam, 2009). I used axial coding to address the research questions by providing a picture of what instructional practices, from the perspective of the teachers, connect with the improved ELL academic performance. Once the categories became clear, axial coding was used to identify relationships within each category. The axial coding resulted in five themes which included cooperative learning strategies, varied instructional strategies, collaboration with ESOL teachers, language barriers, and a welcoming learning environment (see Appendix C). As an example, to develop the theme of varied instructional strategies, I included the CRP construct of academic success. From there, the findings from the data created categories that included the use of anchor charts, guided reading, hands-on, visual, and small group learning. The varied instructional strategies theme collapsed concepts that shared similarities. I was able to combine similar categories and collapse them into five main themes. The five themes reflected the feelings elementary content teachers had about instructional practices and their understanding of which practices aligned with improved ELL academic performance.

Lesson Plan Analysis

I requested one copy of a weekly lesson plan from each of the nine participants via email. Of the nine participants, seven complied with my request. Each lesson plan was numbered according to whom it belonged. For example, Participant 1's lesson plan was numbered "one," and Participant 2's plan was numbered "two." I studied each lesson plan and noted each type of activity that the teacher planned for the lessons. A sample of the seven lesson plans included key words and phrases that reoccurred. The reoccurring words and phrases included curriculum standards, academic language objectives, targeted instructional practices, and assessments to provide a systematic way for teachers to determine the focus, length, and teaching strategies used to facilitate student learning. As suggested by Yin (2014), I identified and recorded patterns as well as those activities aligned with the a priori codes. This procedure is supported by Ortiz and Davis (2019), who also analyzed preservice teachers' lesson plans, in the same way, to determine if they aligned with CRP tenets. They found that cultural competence was the least implemented among the three constructs of CRP.

Lesson plan documents served as evidence of elementary content teachers' plan to provide instructional practices to meet the academic needs of ELLs. I searched for keywords and phrases that identified teachers' instructional practices. I highlighted and coded reoccurring words and phrases. I organized the coded data on an Excel spreadsheet into categories to identify emerging themes. I then determined if the lesson plans supported the patterns identified. The emerging themes included the following types of activities: varied instruction, small group instruction, visual learning, cooperative

learning, and phonics worksheets. I used a lesson plan analysis (Appendix D) to illustrate participants' evidence of implementing ELL instructional strategies in their lesson plans. For instance, if varied instruction was used, I wrote down in my notes how they were used in the wording that the respondents used to identify the learning targets. Then, themes that developed from the activities were numerically coded and separated into emerging categories. I then analyzed the codes found in the data and compared them to information that originated in the participants' interview responses. Interview and teacher lesson plans were sufficient for data collection as both gave vital information from the participants. The data analyzed from the interviews and lesson plans provided a picture of what instructional practices, from the perspective of the teachers, connected with the improved ELL academic performance. During the interviews, most participants stated that they have tried to modify instruction to address the diverse learning needs of ELLs. However, their lesson plans authenticated that they did not design their lessons to accommodate ELL learners.

Evidence of Quality of Procedures

Qualitative researchers can increase the trustworthiness of study findings through member checking and triangulation. Member checking allows the researcher to verify participant responses by asking questions to clarify different aspects of the study (Creswell, 2013; Merriam, 2009). Member checking can reduce researcher biases to ensure that the participant's views are recorded accurately (Lodico et al., 2013). To enhance the internal validity of this study, member checking allows participants to determine the accuracy of the findings and to confirm that the researcher's interpretations

were fair and representative (Yin, 2014). Participants could review my initial results to ensure that their responses were not prejudiced by my biases (Lodico et al., 2013). Participants can make suggestions to ensure that their perspectives are fully captured during the member checking process (Merriam, 2014). Member checking provided me with the chance to corroborate participant perspectives and revise inaccurate findings. A system of member checking took place during each interview, where I restated and summarized the information to check for accuracy from each participant (Merriam, 2009). When member checking is performed, participants may contradict their original statements. By restating and summarizing participants' interview information, no contradiction of statements was found. To avoid making errors, researchers should carefully consider when and how member checking is used to prevent the adverse effects of participant bias (Livari, 2018). Another standard error researchers can make is not making allowances for researcher bias and, therefore, not recording participants' views adequately (Lodico et al., 2013). Soliciting feedback from participants through member checking allows participants to verify findings from the researcher's initial findings (Merriam, 2014). Member checking is an important strategy to ensure validity and reliability.

Another strategy used to determine the trustworthiness of study findings is through triangulation. Creswell (2013) and Merriam (2014) stated that triangulation could enhance the integrity of the study through corroboration data from multiple sources such as documents and interviews. Documents can complement findings and triangulate results when used with other qualitative research methods (Bowen, 2009). Triangulation

helps the researcher increase the credibility of the study by using various sources of data (Merriam, 2014). Triangulation will help improve the support of the findings of the study by comparing data from semi-structured interviews and lesson plans. (Marshall & Rossman, 2014). In this study, the triangulation process included data from semi-structured interviews and lesson plans. I analyzed the data and presented evidence to support the themes. Through strategies such as triangulation, researchers can bolster the credibility of the study.

Discrepant Cases

I addressed discrepant cases by looking for patterns found within the coding of the data. According to Lodico et al. (2013), identifying and analyzing discrepant data is a critical element of validity testing in qualitative research. Discrepant cases can also include data that are outliers or hold inconsistencies with the initially identified research questions, themes, or categories (Merriam & Tisdell, 2009). According to Braten and Braasch (2018), discrepant cases can also include data that come from the same research question but does not agree with the other data samples. Gast and Ledford (2014) contended discrepant cases can be identified as data that hold irregularities that disconfirm themes or categories found during the data analysis process. Those types of findings can enhance relevancy to the research project and provide information that add to how teachers perceive their instructional practices. All perspectives and possibilities were discussed in the research findings since some participants had differing perceptions of the same topic.

Data Analysis Results

The problem investigated in this study was the need to explore the instructional practices of elementary content teachers of ELLs and how the teachers perceive those practices to be aligned with improved ELL academic performance. I investigated instructional practices taking place in the elementary school classrooms of ELL students of content teachers. Participants completed semi-structured interviews and submitted lesson plans. I used these data collection sources to analyze teacher perceptions and experiences. To locate evidence of themes, the process was guided by the following research questions:

- 1. What instructional practices do elementary content teachers say they use to support ELL learning?
- 2. What practices are perceived to be aligned with improved ELL academic performance?

The findings from the interviews were compared to those of the teachers' lesson plans. Themes emerged that were common to both the interviews and the lesson plans. The themes included cooperative learning strategies, varied instructional strategies, collaboration with ESOL teachers, language barriers, and a welcoming learning environment.

Review Process for When Data Were Generated, Gathered, and Recorded

I gathered data in the form of interviews and lesson plans for this study from elementary content teachers from three schools who work in a Mid-Atlantic school district. While aligning each interview question to the research question and the concepts

in the theory of CRP that support the conceptual framework, I interviewed each participant through semi-structured interviews (see Appendix B). The lesson plans were used to show evidence that weekly lesson plans that included instructional strategies promoted ELL learning. Because all participants were located in different states, I used FreeConferenceCall.com via telephone to automatically record and transcribe the interviews, which saved time, provided an accurate record of the conversations, and made it easy to code and categorize emerging themes (PR Newswire, 2019). Each semistructured interview lasted between 27 and 48 minutes. Following each interview, I copied and pasted the transcribed audio recordings that related to each interview question into a word document. Before identifying themes, I generated codes that were condensed into overlapping categories in alignment with the research questions. Once the interview process was completed, I asked each participant to email a copy of their weekly lesson plans. Seven of the nine participants complied with my request. Lesson plan documentation included activities about the specific content that elementary content teachers expected their students to master.

Findings from the Problem and Research Question 1

The purpose of this doctoral project study was to explore the instructional practices of elementary content teachers of ELLs and how those practices are perceived to align with improved ELL academic performance. I analyzed the interview and lesson plan responses to Ladson-Billings's (1995. p. 160) constructs of CRP (a) academic success, (b) cultural competence, and (c) development of sociopolitical consciousness. The findings provide an understanding of participants' perceptions of working with ELLs

and how they implemented instructional practices in mainstream classes (see Appendix C). Two findings emerged from the data analysis from research question one. First, participants stated that they use cooperative learning strategies to promote English language acquisition among ELLs. Second, participants reported they use varied instructional strategies to meet ELLs' academic needs.

Theme 1: Cooperative learning strategies. The first theme, which emerged from the overall interview responses of the participants, was to implement cooperative learning strategies that promote English language acquisition among ELLs. The analysis of interview data revealed that the participants believed cooperative learning strategies allowed ELLs to feel validated as essential members of mainstream classrooms when they share ideas (Toppel, 2015). Cooperative learning strategies are in alignment with Johnson and Johnson (2009), who indicated that cooperative learning is appropriate across all subjects and is considered one of the foremost instructional methods. In addition, Zarifi and Taghavi (2016) stated that cooperative learning has a positive influence on ELL grammatical competence and contributes to a nurturing and collaborative environment for ELLs.

Participants believed that cooperative learning strategies are essential instructional practices used to teach ELLs in the classroom, according to Participants 1 and 2.

Participant 1 described how she employed cooperative learning strategies by "pairing an ELL student with low English proficiency with an ELL student who has high English proficiency." She said it "allowed the ELL student with low English proficiency to feel more confident in sharing in the classroom because this strategy encourages students to

learn from each other." Participant 2 shared that cooperative learning strategies, when used properly, encouraged "community building and relationships to help all students feel welcome and accepted and part of the classroom community." Participant 4 commented on how the communication component with cooperative learning "helps all students but highlights the ELLs." Also, Participant 3 added that,

I basically use the Kagan strategy that's like the turn and talk. It's really less work for me because they're talking to each other and kids learn best from each other. They pick up things from the teacher, but when we want mastery of a subject and things like that, they learn best from one another.

Only Participant 7 incorporated cooperative learning strategies as part of her weekly lesson plan documentation.

Theme 2: Varied instructional strategies. A second theme that emerged from participant interview responses was teachers' use of varied instructional strategies to meet ELL needs. The interview data revealed the participants believed that varied instructional strategies provided the proper support to enhance student performance. The findings are related to the conceptual framework of Ladson-Billings's (1994) construct of academic success. The use of varied instructional practices is essential in meeting the academic needs of individual learners. Five of the nine participants used some form of varied instructional strategies that included small groups and multimodal approaches, such as graphic organizers, visuals, music, and gestures, and building on students' prior knowledge to help make content understandable for ELLs (Thompson, 2015).

Participants 1, 2, 4, 5, 7, and 9 used small group instruction, cooperative learning, and

visual learning and phonics worksheets in their lesson plans as a varied approach to learning. The findings align with Shaunessy-Dedrick et al. (2015), who explained that learning requires more than a one size fits all approach. Castro (2015) also advocated the use of varied instructional practices with ELLs. Varied or differentiated instruction, according to Valiandes (2015), helps to adapt instruction to meet the needs of ELLs. Last, Ismajli and Imami-Morina (2018) agreed, indicating that differentiated teaching is a useful tool that helps teachers gain knowledge to support the individual needs of ELLs. Teachers can develop varied learning activities that address culturally and linguistically diverse learners.

All but one of the participants stated that students need to be acquainted with varied instructional strategies that meet their individual needs. For example, participant 1 said, "We use small group instruction for guided reading, so students receive guided reading instruction from me, and ELLs will receive it on their level, and they get word work support as well as how to decode." Participant 8 instructs ELLs who are "homogeneously grouped by their reading level." Participants 1, 2, 3, and 9 also mentioned the importance and benefits of using visuals, which keeps students' attention. Participant 3 indicated that, "I like to use a lot of visuals, so if we use the sentence trips or signs or highlighting anything that visually catches the eye." Participant 1 said,

We use a lot of hands-on manipulatives which can help students show their understanding in other ways, so I really feel like as the primary teacher it does help me with teaching ELL students and helping them be successful in the classroom.

Six of the participants incorporated a variety of instructional practices that included visual learning, hands-on, and small group activities in their lesson plans to increase student learning.

Findings From the Problem and Research Question 2

Like research question 1, I analyzed the interview and lesson plan responses to the constructs of CRP. The findings provide an understanding of what practices elementary content teachers perceived to be aligned with improved ELL academic performance. Three findings from research question two emerged from the data. First, participants stated that tapping into the expertise and cultural competence of ESOL teachers created a necessity to increase collaboration opportunities with ESOL teachers. Second, the participants said that parental involvement was one of the keys to improving academic performance. And finally, participants stressed the importance of creating a welcoming and stress-free learning environment for ELLs.

Theme 3: Collaboration with ESOL teachers. The participants believed that encouraging collaboration between ESOL and classroom teachers can support regular classroom instruction by taking advantage of ESOL teachers' expertise. This theme aligns with Babinski et al. (2018), who found that collaboration incorporating cultural competency in the classroom provides ESOL and elementary content teachers with the necessary skills to implement high-impact instructional methods. Also, Peercy et al. (2015) found that collaboration between ESOL specialists and elementary content teachers support students by improving elementary content teachers' understanding of ELL learning capabilities and requirements. All the participants agreed that collaborative

activities provide the elementary content teacher and the ESOL teacher opportunities to combine their teaching methods. Hong et al. (2019) stated that this improves the learning outcomes of ELLs. According to Participants 1, 3, and 5, collaboration is especially beneficial in science and social studies, where it is more content-specific vocabulary that can be more challenging. Cho et al. (2019) concurred, and affirmed that students could achieve greater success when mainstream teachers and ESL teachers utilize collaboration by sharing ideas on progress and incidences.

According to Participants 1, 2, 3, 4, 6, 7, 8, and 9, teacher collaboration strategies with ESOL teachers assist ELLs who struggle in mainstream classes. Participant 4 described how

The ESOL teacher pulls out the students every day. My students are with her for 30 to 45 minutes and what I like about her is that she teaches every subject. I also like that she preloaded the lessons, so she's a week ahead of us, for example, my whole class is not learning magnets until next week, but she's teaching magnets this week in her ELL groups, so those kids already have the vocabulary when they come to me next Monday which is really awesome.

Participant 2 added, "In 1st grade, they get pulled out to receive small group instruction.

The ESOL teacher does vocabulary building and reading and writing with them."

Participant 6 stated,

I think from my experience the ESOL teacher will also bring in an aide to spend one on one time with that child if they're really struggling and having problems. I am also reaching out to other teachers to get ideas about different curricula and different things to help my ELLs get the needed exposure.

The findings align with the conceptual framework of Ladson-Billings (1995), which incorporates academic success and cultural competency into the classroom.

Collaboration allows teachers to learn new and innovative teaching practices and can extend their knowledge that may have a positive effect on how their students learn.

Theme 4: Language barriers. The participants shared that parental communication is necessary for the success of ELL students. Participants claimed that language and cultural barriers could often present communication difficulties between parents and teachers (Soutullo et al., 2016). This aligns with Reynolds et al. (2015), who stated that language differences as significant barriers to engaging families. Jefferson (2015) agreed and noted that the lack of easy access to school websites that typically contain information pertinent to families could serve as significant obstacles to parents. Language barriers also support research by Campbell et al. (2016), who stated poor communication between school and the home served as barriers to parental school participation as many parents who had a desire to become involved lacked the knowledge on how to do so. They concluded that schools might benefit from considering parents' perspectives in efforts to involve them in school participation better. Finally, See and Gorard (2015) stated that parental involvement in their child's learning is consistently linked with increased student achievement. Supporting parental engagement and breaking down language and culture barriers between home and school may be solutions stakeholders can use to enhance ELL student performance.

Many of the participants shared the same perception that one of the biggest challenges to effective ELL instruction is parental involvement. Participant 1 believed that proficiency in English is significant because many children of first-generation parents start school with fewer academic skills than do children of non-ELL students. Participant 2 stated that many ELLs are not encouraged to speak English at home by their parents. Teachers said that communicating with parents was difficult for them because of the language barrier. According to Participants 1, 2, 4, and 7, the language barrier at home became an obstacle when teaching ELLs in mainstream classrooms. Participant 1 shared that she thinks, "The biggest challenge might be communicating with parents just because that is typically where there'll be more of a language barrier. This is especially true if the parents are non-English speakers." A significant obstacle content teachers face in mainstream classrooms, according to Participant 2, is the "language barrier when it comes to communicating with parents." Participant 7 commented that, "I think my biggest obstacle was communicating with parents."

Theme 5: A welcoming learning environment. A fifth theme that emerged from the participants' interviews was the importance of creating a welcoming and stress-free learning environment for ELLs. Creating a welcoming and stress-free learning environment is in alignment with Cody et al. (2016) who used a mixed-methods study to examine the instructional practices of teachers working with ELLs in elementary content classrooms. The teachers in the study used generic instructional strategies to accommodate ELLs rather than specific ELL strategies to facilitate a stress-free and welcoming learning environment. Cody et al. concluded that instruction should

specifically target ELLs' language and literacy development methods to create stress-free and a welcoming setting. A stress-free and welcoming learning environment, according to Samalot-Rivera et al. (2018), are classrooms where teachers take the time to learn about the different countries of origin for their ELLs. ELLs can also feel more welcomed and may be more willing to participate when instructional methods include culturally relevant music and games from the students' native country (Cruz & Petersen, 2011). Cervetti et al. (2015) advocated that ELLs are apt to feel more comfortable practicing their English-speaking skills when teachers acknowledge and validate their students' native language creating an inviting learning environment. Leveraging ELL native backgrounds can support the instructional strategies of elementary content teachers.

According to the perceptions of the participating teachers, a welcoming and stress-free learning environment makes ELLs more apt to focus on learning. One teacher commented that "First and foremost, when they come into my classroom, I make them feel welcome." She further stated that she's able to accomplish a welcoming environment,

By letting them know that whatever culture, whatever language they speak, all language or languages are also welcome. I thought my kids come in ashamed of their home language, and I try to sort of eliminating that thought process so then they'll be open to learning.

Another teacher stressed the importance of creating a learning environment in which ELLs feel accepted and welcome. She stated that,

Foremost, we focus on community building and relationships. This helps all students feel welcome and accepted, and part of the classroom community. This is something I really focus on, especially in the beginning of the year, and then once that's established, I feel like the real learning can take place.

A third participant, when asked 'What instructional practices are linked to improving the academic performance of ELLs? stated that "a child learns best when a child feels welcome." She further stated that to create a welcoming environment, "I really have to be adept at the way they think and how the pace at which they pick things up because they do have to work at a slower pace."

Discrepant Cases

Analyzing discrepant cases involves examining the data that contradicts or negates something identified as familiar to the experiences of all participants (Merriam, 2009). I searched for discrepant cases as I coded my data from the interview transcripts. Discrepancies added depth and detail to participants' experiences (Lodico et al., 2010), while possibly reflecting their personal biases (Yin, 2014). For this research, discrepant cases were analyzed just like any other data. Although participants had similar experiences, challenges, and obstacles, there were only three responses that could be interpreted as a discrepant case. Participant 6, when asked if she faced any challenges in her classroom because of having ELLs in her class, out of the nine participants, she was the only participant that did not face any challenges and responded that she,

Didn't see that as any more of a challenge across the board whether it is with ELLs or any type of things in the classroom. There are always different

challenges that come across, so I don't see that as anymore of a challenge than any other thing or any other you know stuff in the classroom.

This participant was noted as a discrepant case because the opinion shared differed significantly from the other participants. Another discrepancy discovered during the interview analysis was one participant's response to the question: "Were there quality instructional resources available for you to use with ELLs to meet their literacy needs?" Participant 5 responded, "not really. I have to ask for them and or ask the right person." Finally, a discrepancy was also found when Participant 2 was asked her thoughts concerning varied instructional practices to address student learning style differences and stated.

There's been some research about learning styles that I haven't completely read through, but I've been hearing recently that learning styles are not really an issue. So, I'm not necessarily trying to make specific lessons for just students that might have more of a likeness to kinesthetic learning.

This participant was the only teacher who minimized the need to employ instructional methods to meet the learning styles of diverse learners. Those discrepancies did not alter the findings but solidifed the need for a diversity training program to provide elementary content teachers the cultural competency to better understand and communicate with their ELL students. Nonetheless, overall, participants felt the need to improve their relationship with ESOL teachers. The teachers all felt the use of varied instructional materials was dependent on the needs of the students.

Evidence of Quality

The data analysis included the triangulation of the interviews, and the lesson plans to ensure validity. Triangulation is a research method that involves multiple sources to associate and examine the data collected from different sources (Merriam, 2009). The interviews, the examination of participant lesson plans, and member checking provided triangulation of data. Triangulation was a valuable method to establish confirmability and credibility of the research study's findings (Yin, 2014). I conducted participant interviews to identify how teachers implemented instructional practices for ELLs. Semistructured interviews are needed to understand past events that cannot be replicated (Merriam, 2009). The lesson plan data indicated activities that include concepts and skills the participants expect their students to master. Glesne (2011) explained that using information gathered from interviews and lesson plans is appropriate in a case study method. The lesson plans served as further evidence that instructional practices for ELLs were being implemented in mainstream classrooms (Castro, 2015). The lesson plans were used to show proof that weekly lesson plans that included instructional strategies, which promoted ELL learning.

An additional augmentation to quality in the data analysis was the use of member checking. According to Amankwaa (2016), member checking is a credibility method used to establish legitimacy in research. Member checking provided me with the chance to corroborate participant perspectives and revise inaccurate findings. Member checking took place during each interview, where I restated and summarized the information to check for accuracy from each participant. Quality augmentation is supported by member

checking, according to Merriam, which involves asking participants if the translation of their interview statements is accurate.

Outcomes

This researcher intended to explore the instructional practices of elementary teachers of ELLs and how the teachers perceive those practices to be aligned with improved ELL academic performance and inform all stakeholders about a gap in practice between elementary content teacher ELL instructional practices and research-based ELL instructional practices. The questions addressed in this study were:

- 1. What instructional practices do elementary content teachers say they use to support ELL learning?
- 2. What practices are perceived to be aligned with improved ELL academic performance?

I analyzed the interview and lesson plan responses to Ladson-Billings's constructs of CRP (a) academic success, (b) cultural competence, and (c) development of sociopolitical consciousness. Included as part of this project deliverable, is a policy recommendation paper, which describes the rationale to address the problem, highlighted in the project.

Conclusion

The purpose of this qualitative case study was to explore the instructional practices of elementary teachers of ELLs and how the teachers perceive those practices to be aligned with improved ELLs' academic performance. The participants included teachers who have ELLs in their classrooms. The primary form of the data collection came from semi-structured interviews, and teachers' lesson plans to explore the

instructional practices of elementary teachers of ELLs and how those practices are perceived by the teachers to be aligned with improved academic performance. I conducted interviews of teachers using FreeConferenceCall.com, which were tape-recorded and automatically transcribed. Furthermore, the data collected may be used to develop a project, which could be used for professional development/training instruction and material. Section 3 includes a description of the project, goals, rationale for selection, and how the problem was addressed, a literature review, a project evaluation plan, and project implications. I created a policy recommendation in the form of a white paper as a deliverable to generate a better understanding of what instructional practices elementary education teachers perceive to be aligned with improved ELLs' academic performance.

Section 3: The Project

This section is about the project study. I explored the instructional practices of elementary content teachers of ELLs and how the teachers perceive those practices to be aligned with improved ELL academic performance. The project, a deliverable in Appendix A, consists of a policy recommendation paper with detail in which I provided policy recommendations on ELL instructional practices. What follows is a description of the goals, rationale, and limitations for the project. A review of the literature relevant to the project will also be presented along with a discussion of social change implications.

Description of the Project

A policy recommendation can disseminate research findings and recommendations to district policymakers to guide efforts to improve ELL instruction. According to Wong et al. (2017), a well-written policy paper includes the best available data to support a range of policy options while presenting a clear and specific purpose. A policy paper is a document containing a brief description of strategies that address a need within an organization and provide information to support policy (Lyons & Luginsland, 2014). Rillero and Camposeco (2018) used a policy paper to define, describe, and promote dialogue among stakeholders concerning the implementation of a problem-based learning experience. Policy papers disseminate information by offering insight into a solution for policy problems (Li, 2013). A policy paper can also be used to shed light on potential solutions (Stelzner, 2010), through pointed analysis and strategic policy recommendations (Young & Quinn, 2002). The policy recommendation included

actionable steps for improving the academic performance of ELLs using instructional best practices.

Goals of the Policy Recommendation with Detail

The goals of the policy paper were to report the findings of this study and provide recommendations to facilitate effective instructional practices that align with improved ELL academic performance. The findings of a policy paper can influence policy and help stakeholders make informed decisions (Breen, 2012). According to Sandelowski and Leeman (2012), informed decisions through research and evidence help ensure that stakeholders make the best decisions. Areas of policy recommendations include the instructional practices of teachers with ELLs. The policy recommendation goals justify the policy paper, which will help establish improved outcomes.

Rationale

The policy paper is an appropriate means to bring attention to elementary content teachers' perceptions regarding their ELL instructional practices. LaBelle (2017) used a policy paper to apply findings from a study of preservice teachers. The researcher used the paper to recommend program modifications and improvements to assist teachers in reflecting upon the political and moral implications of their teaching. A policy paper was also used by Rattan et al. (2015) to address student educational achievement through instructional practices. In the policy paper, they presented recommendations for improved student outcomes. Finally, Heineke et al. (2018) investigated ways to enhance access and equity for ELLs. These researchers presented their findings through a policy paper. Similarly, the contents of the current policy paper will address the major themes

that emerged during the study and the answers to the research questions. The policy paper will also contain a discussion of the recent literature concerning the perception of elementary content teachers regarding their ELL instructional practices.

The policy recommendation position paper aligns the outcomes of this study and provides the insight needed for an understanding of elementary content teachers' instructional practices of ELLs (Sakamuro & Stolley, 2010). It is an effective way to disseminate information using researched-based recommendations for those who are not directly involved in classroom teaching (Lumby & Muijs, 2014). Pershing (2015) contended that a policy paper uses facts and logic from research findings to support resolutions to the research problem. Campbell and Naidoo (2017) stated that policy papers deliver a specific viewpoint by including data to provide a synopsis from research-based studies. Thus, a policy paper serves as a practical method for problem-solving that stimulates positive social change (Malone & Wright, 2017). The policy recommendations addressed the problem because it contains suggestions that address the issue of low performing ELLs.

Review of the Scholarly Literature on Policy Papers

The problem I explored in this study concerned the need to explore the instructional practices of elementary content teachers of ELLs and how the teachers perceive those practices to be aligned with improved ELLs' academic performance. This need aligns with the findings for the research questions in my study. This literature review supported the purpose and necessity of developing a policy paper that met teachers' needs and concerns based on teachers' perceptions and experiences.

I reviewed scholarly literature related to the study's findings and project genre. Several resources informed this literature review. To identify prospective, peer-reviewed articles and books, I used Google Scholar and the following Walden Library databases: Academic Search Complete, Education Research Complete, ERIC, Thoreau, SAGE Premier, ProQuest Central, PsycINFO, and SocINDEX. The literature search primarily focused on literature, published in peer-reviewed journals within the last 5 years, using the following keywords and topics: white paper, position paper, grey literature, white paper and writing, white paper and education, and writing a paper policy brief and policy recommendations. All the articles included in this literature review were peer reviewed. This review of the literature provided context and structure for the content of my policy paper as the project genre. This section includes discussions on (a) how a policy paper is appropriate and (b) how theory and research support the content of the policy paper.

How a Policy Paper is Appropriate

Policy recommendations are appropriate to inform decision-makers that a change is necessary. James (2016) explained that a policy paper could alert stakeholders to possible problem areas and educate the importance that a policy change is needed. The researcher can use the format of a policy recommendation to promote a better understanding of the issue by influencing decision-makers to address the problem and offer solutions (Pershing, 2015; Sakamuro & Stolley, 2010). By providing solutions to a specific question, policy papers can be more appropriate than a regular report (Campbell & Naidoo, 2017). The findings of the policy recommendations helped support the

purpose of the policy paper, which was to influence decisions on instructional practices that enhance ELLs' academic performance.

A policy paper presents information in a way that is easily read and understood by stakeholders. Policy recommendations are designed to inform decision-makers based on facts and data (Pershing, 2015). By highlighting useful events and information, the findings of a policy paper help form a connection to a problem (Lumby & Muijs, 2014). A detailed policy recommendation can encourage critical players to use the data from this study to identify better methods to evaluate elementary content teachers' instructional practices (Firestone, 2014). The information provided in a policy paper is an efficient way to communicate the research objectives and provide recommendations for the study's problem.

Policy papers are used to recommend solutions to a problem. A policy paper contains necessary information about a problem and concludes with recommendations to address the problem (Ibrahim & Benrimoh, 2016). According to Gotschall (2016), a policy paper can be used to support specific questions or issues. Herman (2013) stated that the purpose of a policy paper is to recommend the best way to solve a problem. Points raised by the policy paper may be beneficial to the local school district, so the appropriate instructional practices are implemented from the recommendations from this paper.

How Theory and Research Support the Content of the Policy Paper

The purpose of this qualitative case study was to explore the instructional practices of elementary teachers of ELLs and how the teachers perceive those practices to

be aligned with improved ELLs' academic performance. This doctoral study was guided by two research questions: (a) What instructional practices do elementary content teachers say they use to support ELL learning? (b) What practices are perceived to be aligned with improved ELL academic performance? Here, I summarize the first point of my policy recommendation and then explain how the findings from Section 2 support it. I will interpret the findings as they relate to the conceptual framework that guided this study. Finally, I will explain how previous research findings support the policy recommendation.

The content of my policy paper is based on the findings from my data collection and analysis. Two findings relate to the instructional practices of elementary content teachers and how those practices were aligned with improved ELLs' academic performance. One was collaboration between elementary content teachers and ESOL teachers; the other was parental involvement as one of the keys to improved academic performance. My three recommendations are based on the findings that include district-level communication and collaboration, employing strategies to increase parental involvement, and developing a diversity training program. The recommendations of the current study were consistent with Ladson-Billings's CRP theory, which is that intervention strategies must be implemented for students to succeed academically. The data from the findings from Section 2 confirmed the strong link between CRP and academically successful ELLs. Ladson-Billings stressed the importance of students achieving academic excellence, and cultural competence aligning with the policy recommendations. CRP theory provides the basis to understand the many dynamics that

must be considered when designing effective instructional practices to meet the learning needs of ELLs.

District-level communication and collaboration. My first recommendation based on the findings of this study is to implement strategies that improved collaboration between elementary content and ESOL teachers through district-level communication and collaboration. Collaboration with ESOL teachers plays an important role when determining what practices and programs can assist ELLs who are struggling in mainstream classes. Most of the participants felt that implementing collaboration with ESOL teachers was significant and beneficial for increasing the academic performance of ELLs in mainstream classrooms. However, when asked whether they face any challenges because of having ELLs in their class, Participants 2, 3, 4, 7, and 9 stated that they struggled because their ELLs are pulled out of class by ESOL teachers. Although elementary content and ESOL teachers collaborated to support the learning needs of ELLs, factors, such as inadequate planning time and insufficient professional training, hindered them from consistently employing collaboration techniques in mainstream classrooms. Even participants who felt that increased collaboration was helpful still thought they had to work a little harder to manage their classrooms.

The partnership between elementary education teachers and ESOL teachers aligns with current research. Mundschenk and Fuchs (2016) recommended teacher collaboration to improve ELL academic success. Prelli (2016) also recommended teacher collaboration because it provides additional opportunities for teachers to learn appropriate practices applicable to their students. However, the struggle still exists. "This year, the

pullouts have been a lot," one teacher explained, "so sometimes I felt like my ELLs were missing my phonics block of time." She further stated that "The biggest challenge I think is as a teacher, you have to learn how to manage your time." Building relationships through collaboration, suggested Jao and McDougall (2016), can enhance teacher knowledge by improving effective teaching practices. Another teacher remarked, "There's an ESOL teacher coming into the classroom for support and which requires a challenge for me since my ELLs are getting pulled out. So, it's difficult trying to balance that schedule all the time". Collaborative activities, as sanctioned by Johnston and Tsai (2018), also produced co-planning for struggling ELL students. These activities provide the elementary content and the ESOL teachers opportunities to combine their teaching methods.

I recommend that district administration provide one full in-service day, per quarter, to allow elementary content and ESOL teachers to communicate, collaborate, and learn from one another in efforts to improve ELL learning. This in-service day should be focused on the needs of ELLs aligned with district student achievement goals. This can be done through coordinated planning sessions under the guidance and direction of the school principal. Elementary content and ESOL teachers can coordinate training sessions to emphasize opportunities to collaborate in culturally relevant co-teaching activities. In alignment with Ladson-Billings's conceptual framework, instructional practices that seek to make instruction relevant and engaging by leveraging students' backgrounds can encourage academic success in the classroom (Cole et al., 2016). Proponents of CRP view academic success as students achieving academic excellence and empowerment due

to teacher instruction. Ladson-Billings (2014) stated that educators should collaborate to decide the best methods to instruct each student. The collaboration will allow ESOL teachers a chance to transfer knowledge to elementary content teachers on how to teach ELL students effectively. As one first grade teacher explained,

Our ELL teacher meets 30 or 45 minutes a day daily, so she gets to know them, and we are able to work together. I've actually had the opportunity to also collaborate with our ESOL teacher and work on units together where she is preteaching vocabulary in her room, and students are coming into my room better prepared to learn about the information. That's especially helpful with science and social studies where it's more content-specific vocabulary that can be more challenging.

Mandel and Eiserman (2015) found that ESOL and classroom teachers can learn and grow in their teaching practices together. As a result, students are coming into mainstream classrooms better prepared to learn. They summarized that teacher collaboration was especially beneficial in science and social studies where it is more content-specific vocabulary that can be more challenging. Kirchhoff (2015) recommended that students can achieve greater success when elementary content teachers and ESOL teachers utilize collaboration by sharing ideas and resources. Collaboration, as one teacher described, is "also like having an ESOL teacher in the class co-teaching throughout the day so that it's not all the time you know you talk, like a support group." Collaborative teaching, recommended DuFour et al. (2016), allow teachers to share experiences they have in the classroom and become the crux of a thriving learning

community. "In first grade, they get pulled out to receive small group instruction," explained one teacher. Another teacher commented that,

The ESOL teacher does vocabulary building and reading and writing with them. I provide small group reading instruction and really any type of remediation that they might need. If I find a student struggling in something, I reteach them in a small group just to make sure that they understand it, and then if any student needed extra visual support or more language support, I would provide that for them.

Chapman (2014) further recommended that teachers who collaborate can improve instructional strategies in the school. Team members become stronger by sharing ideas to maximize student learning.

Employing strategies to increase parental involvement. A positive correlation has been linked between ELL parental involvement and ELL students' higher test scores, increased motivation, and higher reading achievement (Calarco, 2016; Parsons & Shim, 2019). To enhance student performance, Niehaus et al. (2017) endorsed finding ways to increase parental involvement. Parents of low performing students may feel uncomfortable in school settings. According to Case (2016), this discomfort is because of the cultural communication barriers that exist between parents and teachers. Using CRP methods, schools can break down communication and language barriers by employing cultural competence strategies that recognize family values, backgrounds, and traditions as strengths (Ladson-Billings, 1995). Forming cultural competence, according to Ladson-Billings, requires incorporating positive cultural identities that engage parents,

and bridge the gap between home and school cultures (Hogan-Chapman et al., 2017). Parents can add a deeper understanding of students' cultures by providing valuable input (Kourea et al., 2016; Ladson-Billings, 1995). Therefore, it is helpful to employ activities that encourage parents to engage in events that promote positive learning practices with their children (Hindin et al., 2017). Vera et al. (2017) sampled 329 parents of ELLs and found that perceived language barriers were a significant predictor of decreased parental involvement. The investigation determined the reasons why parents might not be involved, factors that promote engagement, and parents' educational ambitions for their children. Rossetti et al. (2018) also advised increased communication between teachers and parents of ELL to improve students' attendance, behavior as well as academic achievement. Supporting parental engagement and breaking down language and communication barriers between home and school are recommendations for stakeholders to enhance ELL student performance.

It is recommended that teachers provide bilingual written documentation to parents of ELLs to improve communication between themselves, students, and parents. Parental support allows children to develop literacy skills before children enter school for the first time. Carroll (2017) affirmed that parental involvement in reading enables children to become familiar with the reading process, which in turn supports their children's literacy development at home. Teachers who provide bilingual written documentation to parents of ELLs can improve communication between themselves, students, and parents (Samalot-Rivera et al., 2018). Improved communication may compel parents to become more engaged in their child's learning process.

Creating a diversity training program. My third recommendation based on the findings of this study is to implement a diversity training program to create a stress-free and welcome learning environment for ELLs. Consistent with Ladson-Billings's theory of CRP, the development of a diversity training program will provide elementary content teachers the cultural competency to better understand and communicate with their ELL students. Cultural competence commented Ladson-Billings (1995), no matter the ethnic background, should be part of the classroom experience for students to achieve academic success. Completing a diversity training program, according to Schwartz (2019), will allow teachers to better communicate with students and parents of culturally and linguistically diverse backgrounds. Practical diversity education courses provide participants an opportunity to look at their own cultural bias as it relates to their ethnically diverse classrooms (Cardona-Molto et al., 2018). Teachers are better able to understand the perspectives of culturally and linguistically diverse students and approach learning from their viewpoint when a healthy level of cultural competence is achieved.

It is recommended that a diversity training program will be completed on an annual basis by elementary content teachers to provide cultural competency to better prepare elementary content teachers to aide in the success of all students, especially ELLs. The purpose of the training would be to create a stress-free and welcoming learning environment through the integration of culturally competent course content into elementary content teachers' instructional practices (Cardona-Molto et al., 2018; Parsons & Shim, 2019). Participants' responses indicted they desired professional development that focused on employing a variety of culturally relevant instructional practices to

improve their professional growth for educating ethnically diverse students within mainstream classrooms. A diversity training curriculum and workshops would be aligned with the districts' strategic goal to increase student performance for all students, notably underperforming ELLs.

Project Description

This project is a policy recommendation paper that provides a better understanding of what instructional practices elementary content teachers say they use to support ELL learning and what practices are perceived to be aligned with improved ELL academic performance. It was a modified policy analysis to enhance and provide a better understanding of the instructional practices at the local school district based on perceptions of teachers. The project provided the background of the existing problem that the local school district faced with underperforming ELLs. Also, the summaries of the study's findings based on the case analysis are provided. The policy recommendation supported significant evidence from both literature and research on how CRP strategies are being represented in the classroom to enhance ELLs' academic performance. To realize the implementation of the recommended procedures, I delivered the findings to the appropriate district stakeholders.

Roles and Responsibilities of Stakeholders

I will be responsible for developing and delivering the policy paper to the local districts' supervisor of program evaluations. I developed this position paper in response to a gap in practice between elementary content teacher ELL instructional practices and research-based ELL instructional practices. My role is to present the findings in the form

of a position paper. I will also distribute a summative evaluation form to the participants for their completion after reviewing the policy recommendation.

Project Implementation

The goal of this project study was to produce a policy paper on the instructional practices of elementary content teachers of ELLs and how those practices are perceived to align with improved ELLs' academic performance. I prepared a policy paper for the district that contained the results of the study and recommendations for improvement. After approval from Walden University, I forwarded the policy recommendation to district stakeholders. Sharing the results of the study helps stakeholders to make an informed decision (Cairney et al., 2016; Makofane, 2018). A copy of the policy paper was also distributed to the school districts' supervisor of program evaluation. I included a description of the study and asked the supervisor of program evaluation to notify me upon receipt of the policy paper.

Project Evaluation Plan

An evaluation report is an appropriate deliverable for this project, which has the goal of increasing stakeholder awareness and offering the school district a new direction in the form of improved instructional practices. As part of the outcomes-based project evaluation plan, I developed an online survey via Survey Monkey

(http://www.surveymonkey.com) to collect feedback from recipients of the policy paper using a Likert-Style question format. An outcomes-based evaluation will allow for me to compare the study's data to future input from stakeholders. This feedback will help me determine the effectiveness of the policy recommendations implemented because of this

project (Ansari & Usmani, 2018). Collecting data electronically from the study allowed for ease of completion and an expedited rate of return for the participant (Cleary et al., 2014; Creswell, 2003). This permitted survey feedback on the recommendations provided in the policy paper. Personal and private data were protected by Survey Monkey, which disabled IP address tracking, and used the secure transmission to protect the exchange of individual data. Mohammed (2018) used a similar survey to help identify the effectiveness of current practices that supported special education students. The input helped teachers understand and tailor instructional presentations for student learning. To improve data reliability, transparency, and program effectiveness, program implementers employed feedback measures to help prevent possible conflicts of interest arising in the evaluation process (Pickering et al., 2017). To elicit feedback, I will email the project surveys to stakeholders (i.e., district-level and school personnel) of the schools of study. Responses from this evaluation were used to determine if the information in the policy recommendation was easy to understand and relevant.

Project Implications

The positive implications of the policy paper project at the local community level include increased awareness of the instructional practices used by teachers with ELLs in their classrooms. Effective instructional models for ELLs can help ELLs achieve academically and attain higher levels of English proficiency (Vogt & Echevarria, 2015). Evans (2018) stated that effective instructional models for ELLs could be delivered through teacher education programs. The instructional models should have the goals of preparing elementary education teachers to become productive with ELLs. The social

change implication may include the potential of providing researchers and institutions a better understanding of instructional practices, which will inform academic improvement efforts for ELLs.

Importance to Stakeholders in a Larger Context

Although I developed the policy paper project in the context of a specific school district, other stakeholders may benefit from the project. The study may contribute to positive social change by providing researchers, institutions, and school districts with a better understanding of the instructional practices of content elementary teachers with ELLs. Equipping elementary content teachers with effective instructional methods help support the learning needs of ELLs (Bautista, 2014). A better knowledge of instructional methods and their perceived linkage to the improved academic performance of ELLs may help prepare elementary content teachers to teach ELLs (Feiman-Neimser, 2018). The findings and recommendations from the study may be transferable. To ensure transferability, I used supportive documentation, vivid details, detailed, thick descriptions, and verbatim quotes from the participants to describe the findings. According to Merriam (2009), when researchers provide detailed explanations, the results become more realistic and valuable. The resulting project deliverable from this study will generate a better understanding of what instructional practices elementary education teachers perceive to be aligned with improved ELL academic performance.

Conclusion

Section 3 contains a discussion of the project study's goals, rationale, and review of the literature. It also includes the analysis of elementary content teachers' interviews

and the study's implications for social change. Section 4 contains a discussion of the project study's completion, strengths, limitations, policy recommendations, and scholarship. The latter part of this section consists of the projects' potential for social change implications, applications, and direction for future research.

Section 4: Reflections and Conclusions

In this policy recommendation with a detailed project, I make a connection between elementary content teachers' instructional practices and what they say that supports ELLs' learning. The purpose of this policy recommendation was to inform stakeholders about the instructional practices of elementary content teachers of ELLs and how those practices are perceived to align with improved ELL academic performance. Data collection was done through semi-structured interviews with elementary content teachers. The study was conducted to gain an understanding of what instructional practices elementary content teachers say they use to support ELL learning and what practices are perceived to be aligned with improved ELLs' academic performance. Ladson-Billings's theory of CRP was used to guide its development. I reviewed the literature on ELL instructional practices and used other researchers' findings of this study to determine the direction for elementary content teachers' instructional practices of ELLs. During the literature review, I also focused on emerging themes from the study findings to help address the identified gaps in elementary content teachers' instructional practices of ELLs that the participants shared. Based on the results of the study, I concluded that a policy recommendation paper would initiate discussion among stakeholders and address the learning needs of ELLs.

Project Strengths and Limitations

This policy recommendation provides insight for stakeholders to understand the challenges that elementary content teachers of ELLs face in mainstream classrooms. In this project, I highlight the strengths of how instructional practices are currently being

conducted. I also point out the limitations of this study. The project deliverable will provide stakeholders with evidence for their claim that increased collaboration can assist ELLs who are struggling in mainstream classrooms. Additional research should be conducted to understand further the intricacies of the working relationship between mainstream and ESOL teachers.

Project Strengths

The strength of this policy recommendation with a detailed project was that it offered evidence to suggest that increased collaboration with ESOL teachers was beneficial in assisting ELLs who were struggling in mainstream classes (Hong et al., 2019; Peercy et al., 2015). The participants of this project almost unanimously stated that collaboration was vital to ELL academic success in the classroom. For the local district, the data from my research provides an understanding of what instructional practices elementary content teachers say they use to support ELL learning and what practices are perceived to be aligned with improved ELL academic performance. One main strength of this project is providing much needed instructional and collaborative strategies for elementary content and ESOL teachers (Young et al., 2016). An additional strength of the policy recommendation is that the data, which are derived from local research, suggest a need for further research in this area of scholarship.

Included as part of this project deliverable is a policy recommendation paper, which describes the rationale to address the problem highlighted in the project. The recommendations were developed after carefully analyzing the findings to identify what instructional practices improve ELLs' learning (Merriam, 2009). In developing these

recommendations, I drew from Babinski's et al. (2018) assertion that collaboration among ESOL and elementary content teachers can support regular classroom instructional practices. I also considered Cho's et al. (2019) suggestion that when mainstream and ESOL teachers share ideas, ELL students can achieve greater success in the classroom. These scholarly confirmations strengthen the foundations of this project and provide reasonable justifications for proposing a positive change to the existing ELL instructional practices of content teachers.

Project Limitations

This study includes several strengths, but there are also limitations. First, the study only included elementary content teachers without exploring the viewpoint of ESOL teachers. In my informal discussions with ESOL teachers, they were able to explain the benefits of collaboration from their experiences and some of the innovations and hindrances they encountered from mainstream teachers (Fusch & Ness, 2015).

Another limitation was the small sample size that was only located in one part of the United States, which may not be sufficient to understand the depth of the problem (Merriam, 2014). Larger sample sizes in future studies with the same design and analysis may yield different results (Morse, 2015). Finally, a possible limitation is the acceptance of the policy papers' recommendation by the school district. The districts' stakeholders may disagree with the study and, therefore, may choose not to implement the recommendations.

Recommendations for Alternative Approaches

The problem identified in Section 1 of this study focused on the need to explore the instructional practices of elementary content teachers of ELLs and how the teachers perceive those practices to be aligned with improved ELL academic performance. I chose a policy recommendation with a detailed project to provide stakeholders with multiple solutions to a perceived problem (Pershing, 2015). An alternative plan for this study would have been a series of professional development workshops, which would have offered content teachers with opportunities to collaborate and generate more ideas and addressed the problem of limited knowledge about ESOL processes and teachers' misconceptions about ELLs. Professional development workshops would also have allowed for discussion of the issue of strategies that work for ELLs and how to engage with ELLs effectively (Prelli, 2016). Instead of a policy recommendation, another approach to solving the perceived problem is to develop a curriculum plan, which could provide an example of how teachers could implement the ESOL-centered instructional use from the viewpoint of ESOL teachers. However, to achieve this, the local district may need to redesign the school week to create a time for collaboration between content teachers and ESOL teachers (Darling-Hammond, 2015). This would allow the proper setting to develop the skills required for effective instructional practices for ELLs. Likewise, similar workshops will need to occur between parents and ESOL and content teachers by employing methods to increase parental engagement. To provide an alternative solution to the local problem, a different project could have also been developed. One possible alternative would have been to design a professional

development policy to train teachers on ways to implement an ESOL centered teaching style and instructional practice.

Scholarship Project Development, and Leadership and Change

In researching this policy recommendation with a detailed project, I have learned about scholarship, the importance of meticulous research, and how to present that information to stakeholders (Makofane, 2018). The entire research process and subsequent development of the policy recommendation position paper taught me valuable critical thinking skills and afforded considerable professional and academic growth (Patanapu et al., 2018). When I first began the program, I would have addressed the concern differently, probably with little data analysis and few data-based decisionmaking strategies (see Jaffe, 2016). Additionally, having experience as a teacher who never taught ELLs, I was educated by listening to the challenges participants faced with ELLs in mainstream classrooms. Conducting this study has increased my understanding and appreciation of the importance of how collaborating might have positive implications on ELLs' learning. As a scholar, I learned through the literature review and the data analysis process how to read, analyze, and interpret information critically. What I lacked in research experience techniques and procedures, I made up for in passion for finding solutions to increase ELL academic performance through improved instructional practice. Walden University offers vast resources in multiple formats, and I took advantage of most of them. The more knowledgeable I became about research, and the more I pursued different instructional methods to increase student performance among ELLs struggling in mainstream classrooms, the more this project study became my motivating force.

Finding new peer-reviewed resources relating to effective instructional practices of teachers with ELLs was extremely difficult. There is a significant gap in the literature concerning what instructional practices of elementary content teachers of ELLs employ and how those teachers perceive those practices to be aligned with improved ELL academic performance. However, finding these gaps was a part of the research process and helped me to mature as a practitioner. Although there is a gap in the literature concerning the instructional practices of elementary content teachers of ELLs, I was able to find many scholarly articles on instructional tools to improve ELL learning. By way of the literature review and the research problem, I began to piece together a narrative based on the input of the participants at the study sites during the process of data collection and analysis.

After I had finished gathering the data, I prepared the analysis of raw data by using NVivo, a qualitative analysis software tool. The analysis phase consisted of careful coding, recording, transcribing, pattern searching, creating categories, and finally deciding the themes (Lewis, 2015). In the process, I learned that qualitative research strategies of triangulation are essential in conveying authenticity. Triangulation includes combing all the data from all the participants via lesson plans, semi-structured interviews, and member checking. Triangulation is a research method that involves more than one source to compare and analyze the data collected from different sources (Merriam, 2009). Before and after I collected the data, I also had to be mindful of my own biases or interpretations in relating a message of trust and credibility to the sample participants. As a project developer, my goal was to present a list of data-driven recommendations to an

audience of stakeholders from one local school district. As I developed my policy recommendation paper, I studied the data analysis, formulated recommendations, conducted a literature review, and wrote my project. My research-based recommendations are measurable, actionable, and adequate. I used the University's planning tools and resources to look ahead and anticipate difficulties. Through the guidance of my committee chair, I learned to follow the rubric to reference and stay on task. I will forward the policy recommendation to district stakeholders who have the authority to make instructional practice alterations (see Harris & Sullivan, 2018). A copy of the policy paper will also be distributed to the school districts' supervisor of program evaluation. My final evaluation will come when I present the project to the school.

My passion and professional goal is to create equitable educational opportunities for all students. Developing my project proposal was a challenging and difficult process to the point that, at times, I doubted my scholarly ability. Initially, the study involved consultation with my doctoral committee, in-depth research, and critical thinking about other options. I was able to watch a project go from data analysis to a policy paper with recommendations. Setting up the interviews with the prospective participants was laborious as several emails eventually produced a sufficient sample size for the study (Merriam, 2014). All the interviews were conducted using FreeConferenceCall.com. Data transcription was cumbersome and time-consuming. In the qualitative analysis of the data, several themes emerged based on the responses of the participants (Cho & Lee, 2014). To optimize the foundation for positive social change intended for this project study, a policy paper was deemed appropriate in the form of recommendations to be

present to the local school district. I researched all the sections of the project that fellow scholars' findings supported. The program evaluation project was a direct extension of the study, and it was planned from the development of the research questions. As part of a project evaluation plan, a web-based survey application was completed using Survey Monkey for stakeholders to gather feedback on the white paper for evaluation and input after the presentation (Survey Monkey, 2012). To elicit feedback, I will email the project surveys to stakeholders of the schools of study. Responses from this evaluation were used to determine if the information in the policy recommendation was easy to understand and relevant.

The process of creating a scholarly work through collaboration with my committee chairs' support offered me a model of leadership and commitment I hope to model through the rest of my career as a scholar-practitioner. My committee chair guided me back to the literature and the scholarly process throughout this project. Not only was I applying what I was learning, but my committee chairs' example of leading and serving showed me how I could become a role model for others (Marx, 2006).

Through the guidance and example of my chair, I learned that I could have an impact in my local community as a scholar-practitioner who uses data-driven techniques to identify problems, examine current literature for solutions, and develop meaningful change (Merriam, 1998). Within the field of education, the landscape is ever-evolving because of changing demographics, sociopolitical pressures, technological advances, and socioeconomic diversity (Howard & Rodriguez-Scheel, 2017). These factors require educational leadership that initiates positive change. I used leadership skills modeled by

my committee chair to engage with other civic leaders such as clergy and executive staff members of community organizations to present the data and recommendations to change the direction of a local school district. I will continue to use the skills I learned to serve my local community, which will help to accomplish my goal of being an advocate to the voices of the underrepresented.

Reflection on Importance of the Work

The research that I have conducted offers a solution to the problem the study site district had concerning the academic underperformance of ELLs compared to their non-ELL peers. Many schools across the United States have the same problem. At the local setting, 37% of ELL reading scores and 31% of ELL math scores in Grades 3 – 8 scored as "failing" in the Standards of Learning standardized testing program (VDOE, 2018). The importance of this project addresses the problems that come with diversity at a local level but draws attention to the more significant issue nationally. In this study, I provided some analysis of elementary content teachers' instructional practices of ELLs. Throughout my journey at Walden University, I have grown in my thinking, writing, and research. I am now more conversant with conceptual frameworks and research studies about instructional practices designed to improve the academic performance of culturally and linguistically diverse learners (de Araujo, 2017). I hope to increase my role as an agent of change and my impact on creating a level playing field for marginalized students. My research has helped me understand the challenges and opportunities that elementary content teachers of ELLs face in their classrooms (Hall & Graziano, 2017). Through the continuously repeated actions of rewriting, correcting, proofreading, and

revisions, I have learned the importance of pedagogical resources and tools on student outcomes.

Implications, Applications, and Directions for Future Research

This study provides findings regarding the instructional practices of elementary content teachers of ELLs and how those practices are perceived to align with improved ELL academic performance. Therefore, the study's findings and proposed policy recommendation paper can promote positive social change and provide insights into how local districts with ELLs who struggle in mainstream classrooms can incorporate collaboration between parties connected with improving ELL learning. Implications for further research might include the need to study the instructional practices of elementary content teachers through the lens of ESOL teachers (Hong et al., 2019). ESOL teachers are assigned to work with content teachers to improve ELL academic performance, and it would be meaningful to collect data based on their relationships with content teachers (Peercy et al., 2015). In this project, a position paper with a policy recommendation, I suggested the benefits of improved collaboration between elementary content and ESOL teachers (Babinski et al., 2018). If accepted by the study site elementary schools, it will be implemented in K5 – fifth-grade classrooms to help ELLs attain academic achievement. The deliverable, the policy paper, was circulated to the districts' leadership team. If the group accepts it, the strategies can be implemented in classrooms in the next school year. The advent of proper professional development may open avenues for those who struggle with English proficiency.

Implications for Social Change

The implications for positive social change include a better understanding of what instructional practices elementary content teachers say they use to support ELL learning and what practices are perceived to be aligned with improved ELL academic performance. The growing ELL student population makes it paramount for school districts to create positive social change by implementing effective instructional practices (Pappamihiel & Lynn, 2016). The results of the study provide information that may help education policymakers and administrators gain an understanding of how to communicate better and facilitate the implementation of instructional practices as related to ELL learning (Breen, 2012; Pershing, 2015). Likewise, elementary content and ESOL teachers may also gain a better understanding of how to effectively collaborate based on the insights and recommendations of the participants of this study.

Recommendations for Future Research

In this study, I concentrated on elementary content teachers' perceptions regarding their ELL instructional practices. A couple of themes emerged during the analysis of data that should be studied in more depth. The participants of the study agreed that collaborative activities provided the elementary content teacher and the ESOL teacher opportunities to enhance their teaching methods (Mundschenk & Fuchs, 2016). Some even expressed that the academic achievement of ELLs was dependent on the input of ESOL teachers. Elementary content teachers also discussed the frustration that came from ESOL teachers pulling ELLs in and out of their classrooms. Therefore, the addition of teacher training programs that include ESOL teaching strategies should be studied,

especially when it comes to preparing content elementary teachers to teach ELLs (Johnston & Tsai, 2018). Another theme that emerged from the data was finding a way to improve parental communication to enhance ELL learning (Niehaus & Adelson, 2014). The research participants were limited to elementary content teachers of ELLs. Future research could be expanded to include middle and high school teachers of ELLs. Expanding the study to a broader population will provide a more elevated perspective about what instructional practices are used to improve ELL learning. Future research of this topic should include exploring the impact of content teachers' instructional practices from the perspective of ESOL teachers. Expanding the research parameters to include ESOL teachers' viewpoints could provide a global look at the data from both sides to compare. To increase sustained learning among educators, future research could also focus on training elementary content teachers on ELL instruction (Darling-Hammond, 2015). I was concerned about the attitude toward the ELL students. Some of the participants had no idea how to reach level one ELLs who were nonresponsive to teachers' communication attempts. All the recommendations mentioned above for further research will add to the growing body of research on teachers' instructional practices of ELLs.

Conclusion

The findings of my study highlighted the importance of elementary content teachers' perceptions regarding their ELL instructional practices. In Section 4, the strengths and limitations of the study, as well as recommendations, were explained. In this section, I detailed reflections as a scholar and practitioner, and I reflected on the

experience of developing the project (Schmitt, 2016). I discussed the implications of the project and presented recommendations for further research. I highlighted how my policy recommendation with detail was relevant to today's mainstream classrooms. The future impact of this research goes beyond the ELL students of this study. Elementary content teachers meet challenges daily from the problems that come with increased diversity from various cultural groups. Yet, the growing achievement gap between ELLs and Non-ELLs implies instructional practices are insufficient in closing the academic achievement gap for ELLs. Research questions were crafted to understand the instructional practices of elementary teachers of ELLs and how the teachers perceive those practices to be aligned with improved ELL academic performance. Through the lens of CRP (Ladson-Billings, 1995), data were collected and analyzed to investigate the challenges and obstacles elementary content teachers faced while employing effective instructional practices to ELLs in mainstream classes. Applications of this study's findings may provide insights into how local school districts with ELLs who struggle in mainstream classrooms can incorporate collaboration between parties connected with improving ELL learning. Through practices to engage elementary content and help ESOL teachers diminish communication barriers between teachers and parents and introduce diversity training programs, district leaders can contribute to positive social change for ELL students through improved teacher instructional practices of ELLs.

References

- Allen, A., Hancock, S., Lewis, C., & Starker-Glass, T. (2017). Mapping culturally relevant pedagogy into teacher education programs: A critical framework.

 *Teachers College Record, 119(1), 1-26. https://www.tcrecord.org/
- Amankwaa, L. (2016). Creating protocols for trustworthiness in qualitative research.

 Journal of Cultural Diversity, 23(3), 121–127. http://www.tuckerpub.com/jcd.htm
- American Federation of Teachers. (2013). *English language learners*. http://www.aft.org/position/english-language-learners
- Ansari, T., & Usmani, A. (2018). Students perceptions toward feedback in clinical sciences in an outcome-based integrated curriculum. *Pakistan Journal of Medical Sciences*, *34*(3), 1-8. https://doi.org/10.12669/pjms.343.15021
- Aronson, B., & Laughter, J. (2016). The theory and practice of culturally relevant education: A synthesis of research across content areas. *Review of Educational Research*, 86(1), 163-206. https://doi.org/10.3102/0034654315582066
- Babinski, L., Amendum, S., Knotek, S., Sanchez, M., & Malone, P. (2018). Improving young English learners' language and literacy skills through teacher professional development: A randomized, controlled trial. Grantee Submission, *American Educational Research Journal*, *55*(1), 117-143.

 https://journals.sagepub.com/home/aer
- Bagley, C., & Castro-Salazar, R. (2012). Critical arts-based research in education: performing undocumented historias. *British Educational Research Journal*, *38*(2), 239-260. https://doi.org/10.1080/01411926.2010.538667

- Balwant, P., Birdi, K., Stephan, U., & Topakas, A. (2018). Transformational instructor-leadership and academic performance: A moderated mediation model of student engagement and structural distance. *Journal of Further and Higher Education*, 43(7), 884-900. https://doi.org/10.1080/0309877X.2017.1420149
- Banks, J., & Hughes, M. (2013). Double consciousness: Postsecondary experiences of African American males with disabilities. *Journal of Negro Education*, 82(4), 368-381. https://www.jstor.org/stable/10.7709/jnegroeducation.82.4.0368
- Barragan, B., Castilla-Earls, A., Martinez-Nieto, L., Restrepo, A., & Gray, S. (2018).

 Performance of low-income dual language learners attending English-only schools on the clinical evaluation of language fundamentals. *Language, Speech & Hearing Services in Schools*, 49(4), 292-305. https://pubs.asha.org/journal/lshss
- Baur, V., Van Elteren, A. H. G., Nierse, C. J., & Adma, T. A. (2010). Dealing with distrust and power dynamics: Asymmetric relations among stakeholders in responsive evaluation. *Evaluation*, *16*(3), 233-248. https://doi.org/10.1177/1356389010370251
- Bautista, N. (2014). Leveling up. *Science Teacher*, *81*(4), 32-37. https://www.jstor.org/stable/i40151274
- Baxter, P., & Jack, S. (2008). Qualitative case study methodology: Study design and implementation for novice researchers. *Qualitative Report*, *13*(4), 544-559. http://www.nova.edu/ssss/QR/QR13-4/baxter.pdf
- Berumen, F., & Silva, C. (2014). A journey with a refugee family: Raising culturally relevant teaching awareness. *New Directions for Teaching & Learning*,

- 2014(140), 51-67. https://doi.org/10.1002/tl.20114
- Bissonnette, J., & Glazier, J. (2016). A counterstory of one's own. *Journal of Adolescent* & *Adult Literacy*, 59(6), 685-694. https://doi.org/10.1002/jaal.486
- Bowen, G. A. (2009). Document analysis as a qualitative research method. *Qualitative Research Journal*, 9(2), 27-40. https://doi.org/10.3316/QRJ0902027
- Boyce, A., & Chouinard, J. (2017). Moving beyond the buzzword: A framework for teaching culturally responsive approaches to evaluation. *Canadian Journal of Program Evaluation*, 32(2), 266-279. https://doi.org/10.3138/10.3138/cjpe.31132
- Bråten, I., & Braasch, J. L. (2018). The role of conflict in multiple source use. In J. L.

 Braasch, I. Bråten, & M. T. McCrudden (Eds.), *Handbook of Multiple Source Use*Routledge.
- Breen, L. (2012). 10 guidelines for writing policy recommendations. Dublin, Ireland:

 Centre for Aging Research and Development.
- Bryant, A. (2017). The browning of American public schools: Evidence of increasing racial diversity and the implications for policy, practice, and student outcomes.

 The Urban Review, 49(2), 263-278. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11256-017-0400-6
- Butz, N. T., & Stupnisky, R. H. (2017). Improving student relatedness through an online discussion intervention: The application of self-determination theory in synchronous hybrid programs. *Computers & Education*, 114, 117-138. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2017.06.006
- Cairney, P., Oliver, K., & Wellstead, A. (2016). To bridge the divide between evidence and policy: Reduce ambiguity as much as uncertainty. *Public Administration*

- Review, 76(3), 399–402. https://doi.org/10.1111/puar.12555.
- Calarco, J. (2016). The broken compass: Parental involvement with children's education. *Social Forces*, 94(4), 1-3. https://doi.org/10.1093/sf/sou126
- Campbell, C., Dalley-Trim, L., & Cordukes, L. (2016). 'You want to get it right': A regional Queensland school's experience in strengthening parent-school partnerships. *Australasian Journal of Early Childhood*, *41*(3), 109-116. https://doi.org/10.1177/183693911604100314
- Campbell, K. S., & Naidoo, J. S. (2017). Rhetorical move structure in high-tech marketing white papers. *Journal of Business & Technical Communication*, *31*(1), 94-118. https://doi.org/10.1177/1050651916667532
- Cardona-Molto, M., Ticha, R., & Abery, B. (2018). Education for diversity in initial teacher preparation programmes: A comparative international study. *Journal of E-Learning & Knowledge Society*, *14*(2), 79-95. https://doi.org/10.20368/1971-8829/1499
- Carnoy, M., & Garcia, E. (2017). Five key trends in U.S. student performance. Progress by blacks and Hispanics, the takeoff of Asians, the stall of non-English speakers, the persistence of socioeconomic gaps, and the damaging effect of highly segregated schools. https://www.epi.org/publication/five-key-trends-in-u-s-student-performance-progress-by-blacks-and-hispanics-the-takeoff-of-asians-the-stall-of-non-english-speakers-the-persistence-of-socioeconomic-gaps-and-the-damaging-effect/
- Carroll, J. (2017). Literacy for families who are English language learners: The Florey

- family literacy project. *Practical Literacy: The Early & Primary Years*, 22(2), 24-28. https://www.alea.edu.au/resources/practical-literacy-the-early-and-primary-vears-plepy-2
- Case, A. (2016). Let social interaction flourish. *Educational Leadership*, 73(5), 51-53. http://www.ascd.org/publications/educational-leadership.aspx
- Castro, E. (2015). Helping English language learners succeed in school. *Education Digest*, 80(7), 44–47. https://www.eddigest.com/sub.php?page=25
- Cervetti, G., Kulikowich, J., & Bravo, M. (2015). The effects of educative curriculum materials on teachers' use of instructional stress for English language learners in science and on student learning. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, 40, 86-98. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cedpsych.2014.10.005
- Chaparro, E. A., Nese, R. N. T., & McIntosh, K. (2015). Examples of engaging instruction to increase equity in education. https://assets.website-files.com/5d3725188825e071f1670246

 /5d783633c6d7bd148876cc03_engaging%20instruction%20to%20increase%20eq uity%20in%20education-2.pdf
- Chapman, S. (2014). Building Community: 4th-grade team reaches through classroom walls to collaborate. *Journal of Staff Development*, *35*(2), 54-58. https://eric.ed.gov/?q=%22%22&pr=on&ff1=subAcademic+Achievement&ff2=souJournal+of+Staff+Development
- Chen, D., & Yang, X. (2017). Improving active classroom participation of ESL students:

 Applying culturally responsive teaching strategies. *Theory and Practice in*

- Language Studies, 7(1), 79-86. https://doi.org/10.17507/tpls.0701.10
- Cho, H., Wang, C., & Christ, T. (2019). Social-emotional learning of refugee English language learners in early elementary grades: Teachers' perspectives. *Journal of Research in Childhood Education*, *33*(1), 40-55.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/02568543.2018.1531449
- Cho, J. Y., & Lee, E.-H. (2014). Reducing confusion about grounded theory and Qualitative content analysis: Similarities and differences. *The Qualitative Report*, 19(32), 1-20. https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol19/iss32/2
- Choy, D., Wong, A. F., Lim, K. M., & Chong, S. (2013). Beginning teachers' perceptions of their pedagogical knowledge and skills in teaching: A three year study.

 Australian Journal of Teacher Education, 38(5), 68–79.

 https://doi.org/10.14221/ajte.2013v38n5.6
- Christ, T., & Sharma, S. (2018). Searching for mirrors: Preservice teachers' journey toward more culturally relevant pedagogy. *Reading Horizons*, *57*(1/5), 55-73. https://www.readinghorizons.com/?utm_expid=.6RD_PU6zTyifkg0vrO3k7Q.0& utm_referrer=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.google.com%2F
- Clark-Goff, K., & Eslami, Z. (2016). Exploring change in preservice teachers' beliefs about English language learning and teaching. *Iranian Journal of Language Teaching Research*, 4(3), 21-26. http://ijltr.urmia.ac.ir/article_20352.html
- Cleary, M., Horsfall, J., & Hayter, M. (2014). Qualitative research: Quality results?

 **Journal of Advanced Nursing, 70(4), 711-713. https://doi.org/10.1111/jan.12172
- Cody, M., Harper, C., & de Jong, E. (2016). Aiming for Equity: Preparing mainstream

- teachers for inclusion of inclusive classroom? *TESOL Quarterly: A journal for Teachers of English to Speakers of Other Languages and of Standard English as a Dialect*, 50(2), 340-368. https://www.tesol.org/read-and-publish/journals/tesol-quarterly
- Cole, M., David, S., & Jimenez, R. (2016). Collaborative translation: Negotiating student investment in culturally responsive pedagogy. *Language Arts*, *93*(6), 430-443. https://www.ebsco.com/products/research-databases/education-source
- Collie, R., Holliman, A., & Martin, A. (2017). Adaptability, engagement and academic achievement at university. *Educational Psychology*, *37*(5), 632-647. https://doi.org/10.1080/01443410.2016.1231296
- Cramer, E. D., & Bennett, K. D. (2015). Implementing culturally responsive positive behavior interventions and supports in middle school classrooms. *Middle School Journal*, 46(3), 18-24. https://doi.org/10.1080/00940771.2015.11461911
- Creswell, J. (2013). Qualitative inquiry & research design: Choosing among five approaches (3rd ed.). Sage.
- Creswell, J. (2014). Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches. Sage.
- Creswell, J. (2015). 30 essential skills for the qualitative researcher. Sage Publications.
- Creswell, J., & Creswell, D. (2017). Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches. Sage.
- Creswell, J. W. (2003). Research design, qualitative, quantitative, and mixed method approaches. Sage.

- Cruz, L. M., & Petersen, S. C. (2011). Teaching diverse students: How to avoid marginalizing difference. *Journal of Physical Education, Recreation & Dance*, 82(6), 21–28. https://doi.org/10.1080/07303084.2011.10598640
- Dallavis, C. (2014). Culturally responsible caring and expectations for academic achievement in a catholic school. *Catholic Education: A Journal of Inquiry and Practice*, 17(2), 154-171. https://doi.org/10.15365/joce.1702082014
- Daniel, S. (2016). Grappling with culturally responsive pedagogy: A study of elementary-level teacher candidates' learning across practicum and diversity coursework experiences. *The Urban Review*, 48(4), 579-600. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11256-016-0369-6
- Darling-Hammond, L. (2015). Want to close the achievement gap? Close the teaching gap. *American Educator*, *38*(4), 14-18. https://www.aft.org/ae/winter2014-2015/darling-hammond
- Davis, D., & McCarther, S. (2015). Following the drinking gourd: Culturally relevant pedagogy and curriculum development through the arts. *Educational Forum*, 79(1), 68-80. https://doi.org/10.1080/00131725.2014.971991
- de Araujo, Z. (2017). Connections between secondary mathematics teachers' beliefs and their selection of tasks for English language learners. *Curriculum Inquiry*, 47(4), 363-389. https://doi.org//10.1080/03626784.2017.1368351
- DeCapua, A. (2016). Reaching students with limited or interrupted formal education through culturally responsive teaching. *Language and Linguistics Compass*, 10(5), 225-237. https://doi.org/10.1111/lnc3.12183

- DeCapua, A., & Marshall, H. (2015). Reframing the conversation about students with limited or interrupted formal education: From achievement gap to cultural dissonance. *NASSP Bulletin*. 99(4), 356-370. https://doi.org/10.1177/0192636515620662
- Delgado, R. (2000). Storytelling for oppositionists and others: A plea for narrative. In R. Delgado & J. Stefancic (Eds.), *Critical race theory: The cutting edge* (2nd ed.). Temple University Press.
- Diaz, A., Cochran, K., & Karlin, N. (2016). The influence of teacher power on English language learners' self-perceptions of learner empowerment. *College Teaching*, 64(4), 158-167. https://doi.org/10.1080/87567555.2015.1126801
- Dong, Y. (2017). Tapping into English language learners' (ELLS) prior knowledge in social studies instruction. *Social Studies*, 108(4), 143-151.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/00377996.2017.1342161
- DuFour, R., DuFour, R., Eaker, R., & Many, T. (2016). Learning by doing. Solution Tree Press. http://pages.solutiontree.com/rs/solutiontree/images/LBD_FreeChapter.pdf
- Elmir, R., Schmied, V., & Wilkes, D. (2011). A tale of strength. *Australian Nursing Journal*, 17(2), 43-43.
- Evans, L. (2018). A case study examination of exemplary literacy teaching in a cross-linguistic, cross-cultural learning environment. *Literacy Research and Instruction*, 57(4), 330-350. https://doi.org/10.1080/19388071.2018.1482033
- Feiman-Neimser, S. (2018). What does research tell us about educating mainstream? teachers to work with ELLs. *The Educational Forum*, 82(2), 227-234.

- https://doi.org/10.1080/00131725.2018.1420872
- Firestone, W. A. (2014). Teacher Evaluation Policy and Conflicting Theories of Motivation. *Educational Researcher*, *43*(2), 100–107. https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189X14521864
- Fuentes, E. (2013). Political mothering: Latina and African American mothers in the struggle for educational academic journal. *Anthropology & Education Quarterly*, 44(3), 304-319. https://doi.org/10.1111/aeq.12027
- Fusch, P., & Ness, L. (2015). Are we there yet? Data saturation in qualitative research.

 *Qualitative Report, 20(9), 1408-1416. https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol20/iss9/3
- Gambrell, J. (2017). Is culturally responsive pedagogy enough? Toward culturally "real"-evant curriculum. *Democracy & Education*, 25(1), 1-8.

 https://democracyeducationjournal.org/home/vol25/iss1/12
- Garcia, S., & Garcia, C. (2016). Transformative professional development and the promotion of literacy through culturally responsive pedagogy. *The CATESOL Journal*, 28(1), 175-194. http://www.catesoljournal.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/06/CJ28.1_garcia.pdf
- Garland, K., & Bryan, K. (2017). Partnering with families and communities: Culturally responsive pedagogy at its best. *Voices from the Middle*, 24(3), 52-55. https://library/NCTEFiles/Resources/Journals/VM/0243-mar2017/VM0243Collaborative.pdf
- Gast, D. L., & Ledford, J. R. (2014). Single case research methodology: Applications in special education and behavioral sciences (2nd ed.). New York, NY: Routledge.

- Gay, G. (2002). Preparing for culturally responsive teaching. *Journal of Teacher Education*, *53*(2), 106-116. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022487102053002003
- Gay, G. (2013). Cultural diversity and multicultural education. *Curriculum Inquiry*, 43(1), 48-70. https://doi.org/10.1111/curi.12002
- Gist, C. (2017). Culturally responsive pedagogy for teachers of color. *The New Educator*, 13(3), 288-303. https://doi.org/10.1080/1547688X.2016.1196801
- Glesne, C. (2011). *Becoming qualitative researchers: An introduction*. Pearson Education.
- Glesne, C. (2015). *Becoming qualitative researchers: An introduction* (5th ed.). Pearson Publishing.
- Gomez, M., & Diarrassouba, N. (2014). What Do Teachers Need to Support English

 Learners? *English Language Teaching*, 7(5), 89-101.

 https://doi.org/10.5539/elt.v7n5p89
- Gotschall, N. P. (2016). Teaching in the entitlement age: Faculty perceptions regarding student academic entitlement behavior (Doctoral dissertation, Walden University). Retrieved from http://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations/1695/
- Grady, M. W., & O'Dwyer, L. M. (2014). The English language learner program survey for principals (REL 2014–027). Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Education, Institute of Education Sciences, National Center for Education Evaluation and Regional Assistance, Regional Educational Laboratory Northeast & Islands. http://ies.ed.gov/ncee/edlabs
- Grasparil, T., & Hernandez, D. (2015). Predictors of latino English learners' reading

- comprehension proficiency. *Journal of Educational Research and Practice*, *5*(1), 35-57. https://doi.org/10.5590/JERAP.2015.05.1.03
- Guest, G., Namey, E., & Mitchell, M. (2013). *Collecting qualitative data: A field manual for applied research*. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications.
- Guzey, S., & Ring-Whalen, E. (2018). Negotiating science and engineering: An exploratory case study of a reform-minded science teacher. *International Journal of Science Education*, 40(7), 723-741. https://doi.org/10.1080/09500693.2018.1445310
- Hall, J. D., & Graziano, K. H. (2017). Flipping math in a secondary classroom. *Journal of Computers in Mathematics and Science Teaching*, *36*(1), 5–16. https://www.learntechlib.org/primary/p/178270/
- Harris, B., & Sullivan, A. L. (2018). A framework for bilingual school consultation to facilitate multitier systems of support for English language learners. *Journal of Educational and Psychological Consultation*, 27(3), 367–392. https://doi.org/10.1080/10474412.2017.1307758
- Hatch, J. (2002). *Doing qualitative research in education settings*. State University of New York Press.
- Heafner, T., & Fitchett, P. (2018). U.S. history content knowledge and associated effects of race, gender, wealth, and urbanity: Item Response Theory (IRT) modeling of NAEP-USH achievement. *The Journal of Social Studies Research*, 42(1), 11–25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jssr.2017.01.001
- Heineke, A. J., Davin, K. J., & Bedford, A. (2018). The Seal of Biliteracy: Considering

- equity and access for English learners. [Commentary]. *Education Policy Analysis Archives*, 26(99). http://dx.doi.org/10.14507/epaa.26.3825.
- Heitner, K., & Jennings, M. (2016). Culturally responsive teaching knowledge and practices of online faculty. *Online Learning*, 20(4), 54-78. https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ1124634
- Herman, L. (2013). Tips for writing policy papers. https://www.cdn.law.stanford.edu/wp-content/uploads/2015/04/White-PapersGuidelines.pdf
- Hindin, A., Steiner, L., & Dougherty, S. (2017). Building our capacity to forge successful home-School partnerships: Programs that support and honor the contributions of families. *Childhood Education*, *93*(1), 10-19. https://doi.org/10.1080/00094056.2017.1275232
- Hogan-Chapman, A., Lewis, B., Cooper, R., Howse, T., & Warren, L. (2017). Using culturally responsive simulation activities to prepare teachers. *National Teacher Education Journal*, *10*(1), 67-74. https://img1.wsimg.com/blobby/go/003a8836-40db-4b0c-b44f-4211ffada1e1/downloads/1ckfv85r1_897921.pdf
- Holton, J. A. (2010). The coding process and its challenges. *The Grounded Theory Review*, 9(1), 21-40. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781848607941.n13
- Hong, H., Keith, K., & Moran, R. (2019). Reflection on actions: Probing into English language art teachers' personal and professional experiences with English language learners. *TESL-EJ*, 22(4), 1-16. http://tesl-ej.org/pdf/ej88/a2.pdf
- Hoque, A. (2018). Third-generation British-Bangladeshis from east London: Complex identities and a culturally responsive pedagogy. *British Journal of Sociology of*

- Education, 39(2), 182-196. https://doi.org/10.1080/01425692.2017.1406335
- Howard, T., & Rodriguez-Scheel, A. (2017). Culturally relevant pedagogy 20 years later:

 Progress or pontificating? What have we learned, and where do we go? *Teachers College Record*, 119(1), 1-32.
 - http://www.tcrecord.org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/library/Issue.asp?volyear=2017&number=1&volume=119
- Hu, Q., Found, P., Williams, S., & Mason, R. (2014). The role of consultants in organizational learning. *Journal of Management Policy and Practice*, *15*(4), 29-39. https://search-ebscohost-com.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/login.aspx?direct=true&db=bth&AN=100404864&site=ehost-live&scope=site
- Hughes-Hassell, S., Barkley, H., & Koehler, E. (2009). Promoting equity in children's literacy instruction: Using a critical race theory framework to examine transitional books. *School Library Media Research*, *12*, 1-23. http://www.ala.org/aasl/sites/ala.org.aasl/files/content/aaslpubsandjournals/slr/vol 12/SLMR_PromotingEquity_V12.pdf
- Ibrahim, T., & Benrimoh, D. (2016). Tools and guidelines for position and policy paper development. McGill University.
- Ismajli, H., & Imami-Morina, I. (2018). Differentiated instruction: Understanding and applying interactive strategies to meet the needs of all students. *International Journal of Instruction*, 11(3), 207-218. http://www.e-iji.net/dosyalar/iji_2018_3_15.pdf

- Jaffe, A. (2016). Social studies pedagogy for Latino/a newcomer youth: Toward a theory of culturally and linguistically relevant citizenship education. *Theory & Research in Social Education*, 44(2), 147-183.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/00933104.2016.1171184
- James, C. (2016). How a teacher prepares for classroom instruction. *Journal of Teacher Education*, 5(3), 15-22. https://doi.org/10.1086/688169
- Jao, L., & McDougall, D. (2016). Moving beyond the barriers: Supporting meaningful teacher collaboration to improve secondary school mathematics. *Teacher Development*, 20,557–573. https://doi.org/10:1080/13664530.2016.1164747
- Jefferson, A. A. (2015). Examining barriers to equity: School policies and practices prohibiting interaction of families and schools. *Urban Review*, 47(1), 67-83. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11256-014-0284
- Johnson, D. W., & Johnson, R. T. (2009). An educational psychology success story:

 Social interdependence theory and cooperative learning. *Educational Researcher*,

 38 (5), 365 379. https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189X09339057
- Johnston, W. R., & Tsai, T. (2018). The prevalence of collaboration among American teachers: National Findings from the American Teacher Panel. Creative Commons, RAND Corporation. https://doi.org/10.7249/RR2217
- Kena, G., Aud, S., Johnson, F., Wang, X., Zhang, J., Rathbun, A., & Kristapovich, P.
 (2014). The condition of education 2014 (NCES 2014-083). Washington, DC:
 U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics.
 http://nces.ed.gov/pubs2014/2014083.pdf

- Kim, J., & Pulido, I. (2015). Examining hip-hop as culturally relevant pedagogy. *Journal of Curriculum & Pedagogy*, 12(1), 17-35.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/15505170.2015.1008077
- Kim, W. (2017). Long-term English language learners' educational experiences in the context of high-stakes accountability. *Teachers College Record*, 119(9), 1-32. http://www.tcrecord.org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/library/content.asp?contentid=22 010
- Kimbark, K., Peters, M., & Richardson, T. (2017). Effectiveness of the student success course on persistence, retention, academic achievement, and student engagement.

 Community College Journal of Research and Practice, 41(2), 124-138.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/10668926.2016.1166352
- Kirchhoff, C. (2015). Extensive reading in the EFL Classroom: Benefits of a face-to-face collaboration activity. *Reading Matrix: An International Online Journal*, *15*(1), 54-65. http://www.readingmatrix.com/journal.html.
- Koss, M. (2015). Diversity in contemporary picture books: A content analysis. *Journal of Children's Literature*, 41(1), 32-42. https://www.questia.com/library/journal/1P3-3700701491/diversity-in-contemporary-picturebooks-a-content
- Kourea, L., Ya-yu, L., & Owens, T. (2016). Using parental input from black families to increase cultural responsiveness for teaching SWPBS expectations. *Behavioral Disorders*, 41(4), 226-240. https://doi.org/10.17988/bedi-41-04-226-240.1
- Kumar, T. (2018). Advancing culturally relevant pedagogy in a secondary methods course. *Multicultural Perspectives*, 20(2), 111-116.

- https://doi.org/10.1080/15210960.2018.1447125
- Kvale, S. (2008). Conducting an interview. In *Doing interviews* (pp. 52-67). http://doi.org/10.4135/9781849208963
- LaBelle, J. (2017). Ethical and political implications of reflective practice among preservice teachers. *Reflective Practice*, *18*(5), 688-698. https://doi.org/10.1080/14623943.2017.1307727
- Ladson-Billings, G. (1994). *The dreamkeepers: Successful teachers' of African-American children*. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Ladson-Billings, G. (1995). But that's just good teaching! The case for culturally relevant pedagogy. *Theory into Practice*, *34*(3), 159-165. https://doi.org/10.1080/00405849509543675
- Ladson-Billings, G. (2006). Yes, but how do we do it? Practicing culturally relevant pedagogy. In J. Landsman & C.W. Lewis (Eds.), White teachers/diverse classrooms: a guide to building inclusive schools, promoting high expectations and eliminating racism (pp. 29-42). Stylus Publishers.
- Ladson-Billings, G. (2014). Culturally relevant pedagogy 2.0: a.k.a. the remix. *Harvard Educational Review*, 84(1), 74-84. https://www.hepg.org/her-home/issues/harvard-educational-review-volume-84-number-1/herarticle/culturally-relevant-pedagogy-2-0
- Lee, O., & Buxton, C. (2013). Teacher professional development to improve science and literacy achievement of English language learners. *Theory into Practice*, 52(2), 110-117. https://doi.org/10.1080/00405841.2013.770328

- Lee, O., Miller, E. C., & Januszyk, R. (2014). Next generation science standards: All standards, all students. *Journal of Science Teacher Education*, 25(2), 223–233. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10972-014-9379-y
- Legard, R., Keegan, J., Ward, K., & Yeo, A. (2013). In-depth interviews. In J. Lewis, C. Nicholls, R., Ormston, & J. Ritchie (Eds.), Qualitative research practice: A guide for social science students and researchers. (pp. 139-165). Sage.
- Lei, H., Cui, Y., & Zhou, W. (2018). Relationships between student engagement and academic achievement: A meta-analysis. *Social Behavior and Personality*, 46(3), 517-528. https://doi.org/10.2224/sbp.7054
- Lewis, S. (2015). Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five approaches. *Health Promotion Practice*, *16*(4), 473-475. https://doi.org/10.1177/1524839915580941
- Li, Y. (2013). Three ESL students writing a policy paper assignment: An activity-analytic perspective. *Journal of English for Academic Purposes*, 12(2), 73-86. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jeap.2012.11.006
- Livari, N. (2018). Using member checking in interpretive research practice: A hermeneutic analysis of informants' interpretation of their organizational realities.
 Information Technology & People, 31(1), 111-133. https://doi.org/10.1108/ITP-07-2016-0168
- Lodico, M., Spaulding, D., & Voegtle, K. (2010). *Methods in educational research:*From theory to practice. John Wiley & Sons.
- Lodico, M., Spaulding, D., & Voegtle, K. (2013). *Methods in educational research:*

- From theory to practice. John Wiley & Sons.
- Lodico, M., Spaulding, D., & Voegtle, K. (2015). *Methods in educational research:*From theory to practice. John Wiley & Sons.
- Lopez, C., & Mason, E. (2017). School counselors as curricular leaders: A content analysis of ASCA lesson plans. *American School Counseling*, 21(1b), https://doi.org/10.1177/2156759X18773277
- Lopez, F. (2016). Culturally Responsive Pedagogies in Arizona and Latino Students'

 Achievement. *Teachers College Record*, 118(5), 1-42.

 http://www.tcrecord.org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/library/content.asp?contentid=19

 369
- Lumby, J., & Muijs, D. (2014). Corrupt language, corrupt thought: The white paper importance of teaching. *Educational Research Journal*, 40(3), 523-538. https://web-b-ebscohost-com.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/ehost/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=78&sid=332e9887-e7fd-4c7d-8f1c-9331c0ee5abd%40pdc-v-sessmgr06
- Lyons, J. B., & Luginsland, J. W. (2014). Policy papers and beyond: Reflections from former grant writers. *The Industrial Organizational Psychologist*, 52(2), 129-135. http://www.siop.org/tip/
- Mack, N., Woodsong, C., MacQueen, K. M., Guest, G., & Namey, E. (2011). *Qualitative* research methods: A data collector's field guide. Family Health International.
- Makofane, M. (2018). Sharing of findings and recommendations remains a fallacy:

 Reinvigoration of the dissemination and implementation of social work doctoral

- research findings. *Social Work*, *54*(2), 146–162. https://doi.org/10.15270/54-2-629
- Malone, E. M., & Wright, D. (2017). "To promote that demand": Toward a history of the marketing white paper as a genre. *Journal of Business & Technical Communication*, 32(1), 113-147. https://doi.org/10.1177/1050651917729861
- Mandel, K., & Eiserman, T. (2015). Team teaching in high school. *Educational Leadership*, 73(4), 74-77. https://web-b-ebscohost-com.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/ehost/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=1&sid=39fd7133-ac8b-4826-ba20-57ce7e8112b2%40pdc-v-sessmgr04
- Marschall, G., & Andrews, P. (2015). Polish teachers' conceptions of and approaches to the teaching of linear equations to grade six students: An exploratory case study. *Research in Mathematics Education*, 17(3), 220-238. https://doi.org/10.1080/14794802.2015.1107498
- Marshall, C., & Rossman, G. B. (2014). Designing qualitative research. CA: Sage.
- Marx, G. (2006). Future-Focused Leadership: Preparing schools, students, and communities for tomorrow's realities. ASCD.
- Mason, A. (2017). Storying a social drama: How discourse and practice prevent transformation through culturally relevant pedagogy. *Multicultural Perspectives*, 19(1), 26-34. https://doi.org/10.1080/15210960.2016.1263959
- McIntosh, M., & Morse, J. (2015). Situating and constructing diversity in semistructured Interviews. *Global Qualitative Nursing Research*, 1-12. https://doi.org/10.1177/2333393615597674

- Mellom, P., Straubhaar, R., Balderas, C., Ariail, M., & Protes, P. (2018). "They come with nothing:" How professional development in a culturally responsive pedagogy shapes teacher attitudes towards Latino/a English language learners.
 Teaching and Teacher Education, 71, 98-107.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2017.12.013
- Mero-Jaffe, I. (2011). "Is that what I said?" Interview transcript approval by participants:

 An aspect of ethics in qualitative research. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 10(3), 231-247. https://doi.org/10.1177/160940691101000304
- Merriam, S. (1998). *Qualitative Research and Case Study Applications in Education*. Jossey-Bass.
- Merriam, S. (2002). Qualitative research in practice: Example for discussion and analysis. Jossey-Bass.
- Merriam, S. (2009). Qualitative research in practice: Example for discussion and analysis. Jossey-Bass.
- Merriam, S. (2014). *Qualitative research: A guide to design and implementation*. John Wiley & Sons.
- Merriam, S. B., & Tisdell, E. J. (2009). *Qualitative research: A guide to design and implementation* (4th ed.). Jossey-Bass.
- Mitchel, C. (2016). English-language learner graduation rates are all over the map. http://blogs.edweek.org/edweek/learning-the-language/2016/01/English-language_learner_gradu.html
- Mitchell, A., & Stewart, J. (2013). The efficacy of all-male academies: Insights from

- Critical Race Theory (CRT). *Academic Journal*, 69(7/8), 382-392. https://web-b-ebscohost-
- com.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/ehost/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=84&sid=332e9887-e7fd-4c7d-8f1c-9331c0ee5abd%40pdc-v-sessmgr06
- Mohammed, A. (2018). Twice-exceptionality in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia: Policy recommendations for advances in special education. *International Journal of Special Education*, *33*(2), 397-415. https://web-b-ebscohost-com.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/ehost/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=87&sid=332e9887-e7fd-4c7d-8f1c-9331c0ee5abd%40pdc-v-sessmgr06
- Morse, J. M. (2015). Analytic strategies and sample size. *Qualitative Health Research*, *125*(10), 1317–1318. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732315602867
- Mundschenk, N., & Fuchs, W. (2016). Professional learning communities: An effective mechanism for the successful implementation and sustainability of responses to intervention. *SRATE Journal*, 25(2), 55-64.

http://www.srate.org/JournalEditions/Volume25-2/Mundschenk.pdf

- Murphy, A., & Torff, B. (2019). Teachers' beliefs about rigor of curriculum for English language learners. *The Educational Forum*, 83, 90-101. https://doi.org/10.1080/00131725.2018.1505991
- National Assessment of Educational Progress. (2017). The nation's report card. Washington, DC: NAEP. http://nation sreportcard.gov/
- Niehaus, K., Adelson, J. L., Sejuit, A., & Zheng, J. (2017). Native language background and academic achievement: Is socioemotional well-being a mediator? Applied

- Developmental Science, *21*(4), 251–265. https://doi.org/10.1080/10888691.2016.1203790
- Niehaus, K., & Adelson, J. L. (2014). School support, parental involvement, and academic and social-emotional outcomes for English language learners. *American Educational Research Journal*, *51*, 810-844. https://doi.org/10.3102/0002831214531323.
- Oates, J. (2015). Use of Skype in interviews: The impact of the medium in a study of mental health nurses. *Nurse Researcher*, 22(4), 13-17. https://doi.org/10.7748/nr.22.4.13.e1318
- O'Brien, L., & Leighton, C. (2015). Use of increasingly complex text to advance ELs' knowledge and academic language. *Literacy Research: Theory, Method, and Practice*, 64(1), 169-192. https://doi.org/10.1177/2381336915617579
- Ortiz, L., & Jani, J. (2010). Critical race theory: A transformational model for teaching diversity. *Journal of Social Work Education*, 46(2), 175-193. https://doi.org/10.5175/JSWE.2010.200900070
- Ortiz, N., & Davis, T. (2019). Planning for Equity: Analyzing the cultural relevance of preservice teachers' lesson plans. *Conference Papers—Psychology of Mathematics & Education of North America*, 1325-1329. https://web-b-ebscohost-com.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/ehost/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=90&sid=332e9887-
- Palinkas, L. A., Horwitz, S. M., Green, C. A., Wisdom, J. P., Duan, N., & Hoagwood, K.

e7fd-4c7d-8f1c-9331c0ee5abd%40pdc-v-sessmgr06

- (2015). Purposeful sampling for qualitative data collection and analysis in mixed method implementation research. *Administration and Policy in Mental Health and Mental Health Services Research*, 42, 533-544. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10488-013-0528-y
- Pappamihiel, N., & Lynn, C. (2016). Adaptations for English language learners:

 Differentiating between linguistic and instructional accommodations. *The Electronic Journal for English as a Second Language*, 20(3), 1-13.

 https://www.tesl-ej.org/wordpress/issues/volume20/ej79/ej79a3/
- Parsons, M. W., & Shim, J. M. (2019). Increasing Ell parental involvement and engagement: Exploration of K-12 administrators in a rural state. *English Language Teaching*, *12*(10), 29-43. https://doi.org/10.5539/elt.v12n10p29
- Patanapu, S. K., Doshi, D., Kulkarni, S., Reddy, P., Adepu, S., & Reddy, S. (2018). Does academic performance influence personal growth initiative? An institutional-based study among undergraduate dental students. *Journal of Education and Health Promotion*, 7(January), 1–5.

 https://doi.org/10.4103/jehp.jehp
- Patton, Q. (2015). Qualitative research and evaluation methods: Integrating theory and practice. Sage.
- Paul, A. M. (2015). Are lectures unfair? *The New York Times*.

 http://www.nytimes.com/2015/09/13/opinion/sunday/are-college-lectures-unfair.html
- Payne, P., & Burrack, F. (2017). Predictive ability from ePortfolios of student

- achievement associated with professional teaching standard: A exploratory case study. *Research and Issues in Music Education*, *13*(1), 1-24. https://commons.lib.jmu.edu/rime/vol13/iss1/6
- Peercy, M., Martin-Beltran, M., & Silverman, R. (2015). "Can I ask a question?" ESOL and mainstream teachers engaging in distributed and distributive learning to support English language learners' text comprehension. *Teacher Education Quarterly*, 42(4), 33-58. ww.jstor.org/stable/teaceducquar.42.4.33
- Pena-Sandoval, C. (2017). The remix of culturally relevant pedagogy: Pertinence, possibilities, and adaptations for the Chilean context. *Perspectiva Educacional*, 56(1), 109-126. https://doi.org/10.4151/07189729-Vol.56-Iss.1-Art.462
- Perez, M., & Kennedy, A. (2014). How do changes in the language of instruction and classroom composition affects English learners? *Society for Research on Educational Effectiveness*, 1-11. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED562762.pdf
- Pershing, J. A. (2015). White paper. *Performance Improvement*, 54(8), 2-5. https://doi.org/10.1002/pfi.21505
- Pickering, A., Arnold, B., Dentz, H., Colford, J., & Null, C. (2017). Climate and health co-benefits in low-income countries: A case study of carbon financed water filter in Kenya and a call for independent monitoring. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 125(3), 278-283. https://doi.org/10.1289/EHP342
- Powell, R., Cantrell, S., Malo-Juvera, V., & Correll, P. (2016). Operationalizing culturally responsive instruction: Preliminary findings of CRIOP research.

 *Teachers College Record, 118(1), 1-46.

- http://www.tcrecord.org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/library/content.asp?contentid=18 224
- PR Newswire. (2019). FreeConferenceCall.com CEO Dave Erickson Named Long Beach Entrepreneur of the Year. *PR Newswire US*. https://search-ebscohost-com.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/login.aspx?direct=true&db=bwh&AN=20190418090 OPR.NEWS.USPR.LA23242&site=ehost-live&scope=site
- Prelli, G. (2016). How school leaders might promote higher levels of collective teacher efficacy at the level of school and team. *English Language Teaching*, 9(3), 174-180. https://doi.org/10.5539/elt.v9n3p174
- Prince, J. (2018). Promising instructional practices for English language learners. *Journal* of Information Technology Education in Practice, 17, 1-21. https://doi.org/10.28945/3937
- Ragoonaden, K., & Mueller, L. (2017). Culturally responsive pedagogy: Indigenizing curriculum. *Canadian Journal of Higher Education*, 47(2), 22-46. https://journals.sfu.ca/cjhe/index.php/cjhe/article/view/187963/pdf
- Rattan, A., Savani, K., Chugh, D., & Dweck, C. (2015). Leveraging mindsets to promote academic achievement: Policy recommendations. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, *10*(6), 721-726. https://doi.org/10.1177/1745691615599383
- Renda, M., & Villares, E. (2017). The effect of a student achievement curriculum on Grade 9 completion rate and student engagement. *Counseling Outcome Research* and Evaluation, 6(2), 113-125. https://doi.org/10.1177/2150137815598812
- Reynolds, A. D., Crea, T. M., Medina, J., Degnan, E., & McRoy, R. (2015). A mixed

- methods case study of parent involvement in an urban high school serving minority students. *Urban Education*, *50*(6), 750-775. https://doi.org/10.1177/0042085914534272
- Rillero, P., & Camposeco, L. (2018). The iterative development and use of an online problem-based learning module for preservice and in-service teachers.

 *Interdisciplinary Journal of Problem-based Learning, 12(1), 117-127.

 https://doi.org/10.7771/1541-5015.1729
- Rodriguez-Arroyo, S., & Vaughns, A. (2015). In service-learning the answer? Preparing teacher candidates to work with ELLs through service-learning experiences. *New Waves Educational Research & Development*, *18*(1), 18-35. https://web-b-ebscohost-com.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/ehost/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=103&sid=332e9887-e7fd-4c7d-8f1c-9331c0ee5abd%40pdc-v-sessmgr06
- Roofe, C. (2017). Why can't everyone pass? Context responsive teaching and learning in urban primary schools. *Pedagogy, Culture & Society*, 26(3), 449 466. https://doi.org/10.1080/14681366.2017.1417893
- Ross, S., & Stevenson, S. (2018). Recognizing the academic talents of young black males: A counter-story. *International Journal of Critical Pedagogy*, 9(1), 95-121. http://libjournal.uncg.edu/ijcp/article/view/1522/1178
- Rossetti, Z., Redash, A., Sauer, J. S., Bui, O., Wen, Y., & Regensburger, D. (2018).

 Access, accountability, and advocacy: Culturally and linguistically diverse families' participation in iep meetings.

- https://doi.org/10.1080/09362835.2018.1480948
- Rubinstein-Avila, E., & Lee, E. H. (2014). Secondary teachers and English language

 Learners (ELLs): Attitudes, preparation, and implications. *The Clearing House: A Journal of Educational Strategies, Issues, and Ideas*, 87(5), 187-191.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/00098655.2014.910162
- Saint-Hilaire, L. A. (2014). So, how do I teach them? Understanding multicultural education and culturally relevant pedagogy. *Reflective Practice*, *15*(5), 592–602. https://doi.org/10.1080/14623943.2014.900026
- Sakamuro, S., & Stolley, K. (2010). White paper purpose and audience. Purdue Online Writing Lab. http://owl.english.purdue.edu/owl/resource/546/1/
- Samalot-Rivera, A., Treadwell, S., & Sato, T. (2018). Instructional strategies to consider when teaching Hispanic English-language learners in physical education. *Education Source*, 31(2), 26-30. https://doi.org/10.1080/08924562.2017.1418691
- Samuels, A. (2018). Exploring culturally responsive pedagogy: Teachers' perspectives on fostering equitable and inclusive classrooms. *SRATE Journal*, 27(1), 22-30. http://www.srate.org/JournalEditions/Volume27-1/Samuels_Manuscript.pdf
- Samuels, A., Samuels, G., & Cook, T. (2017). Examining perceptions of culturally responsive pedagogy in teacher preparation and teacher leadership candidates. SRATE Journal, 26(2), 50-59. http://www.srate.org/JournalEditions/Volume26-2/Samuels%20Manuscript.pdf
- Sandelowski, M., & Leeman, J. (2012). Writing usable qualitative health research findings. *Qualitative Health Research*, 22(10), 240-255.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732312450368

ite=ehost-live&scope=site

- Schmitt, U. (2016). Personal knowledge management for development (PKM4D) framework and its application for people empowerment. *Procedia Computer Science*, 99, 64–78. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procs.2016.09.101
- Schulz, L., Hurt, K., & Lindo, N. (2014). My name is not Michael: Strategies for promoting cultural responsiveness in schools. *Journal of School Counseling*, 12(2), 1-35. https://web-b-ebscohost-com.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/ehost/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=112&sid=332e9887-e7fd-4c7d-8f1c-9331c0ee5abd%40pdc-v-sessmgr06
- Schwartz, S. (2019). The power of facing our unconscious bias. *Education Week*, 38(33), 10-16.

 https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=a9h&AN=136657538&s
- See, B. H., & Gorard, S. (2015). The role of parents in young people's education—a critical review of the causal evidence. *Oxford Review of Education*, *41*, 3. 346-366. https://doi.org/10.1080/03054985.2015.1031648
- Seider, S., Graves, D., El-Amin, A., Soutter, M., Tamerat, J., Jennett, P., & Johannsen, J. (2018). Developing sociopolitical consciousness of race and social class inequality in adolescents attending progressive and excuses urban secondary schools. *Applied Developmental Science*, 22(3), 169-187. https://doi.org/10.1080/10888691.2016.1254557
- Shaunessy-Dedrick, E., Evans, L., Ferron, J., & Lindo, M. (2015). Effects of

- differentiated reading on elementary students' reading comprehension and attitudes toward reading. *Gifted Child Quarterly*, 59(2), 91-107. https://doi.org/10.1177/0016986214568718
- Soutullo, O. R., Smith-Bonahue, T. M., Sanders-Smith, S. C., & Navia, L. E. (2016).

 Discouraging partnerships? Teachers' perspectives on immigration-related barriers to family-school collaboration. *School Psychology Quarterly*, *31*(2), 226–240. https://doi.org/10.1037/spq0000148
- Stark, P., & Noel, A. M. (2015). *Trends in high school dropout and completion rates in the United States*: 1972–2012 (NCES 2015-015). U.S. Department of Education.

 National Center for Education Statistics. Retrieved from http://nces.ed.gov/pubsearch
- Stelzner, M. (2010). How to write a white paper Applied Cognitive Science Lab. http://acs.ist.psu.edu/ist413/papers/whitepapers.pdf
- Survey Monkey (2012). Privacy policy.

 http://www.surveymonkey.com/mp/policy/privacy-policy/
- Thompson, J. (2015). Towards cultural responsiveness in music instruction with black detained youth: An analytic autoethnography. *Music Education Research*, *17*(4), 421-436. https://doi.org/10.1080/14613808.2014.930117
- Toppel, K. (2015). Enhancing core reading programs with culturally responsive practices.

 Reading Teacher, 68(7), 552-559. https://doi.org/10.1002/trtr.1348
- Turkan, S., & Burzick, H. M. (2016). Complexities and issues to consider in the evaluation of content teacher of English language learners. *Urban Education*,

- 51(2), 221-248. https://doi.org/10.1177/0042085914543111
- Underwood, J., & Mensah, F. (2018). An investigation of science teacher educators'

 Perceptions of culturally relevant pedagogy. *Journal of Science Teacher Education*, 29(1), 46-64. https://doi.org/10.1080/1046560X.2017.1423457
- U.S. Department of Education. (2009). Race to the top Retrieved from https://www2.ed.gov/programs/racetothetop/factsheet.html
- U.S. Department of Education. (2015). Every student succeeds act (ESSA). https://www.ed.gov/essa
- U.S. Department of Education. (2016). ED Data Express. https://eddataexpress.ed.gov/state-tables-main.cfm/reportPage/newPubCustomResults
- U.S. Department of Education. (2017a). National center for educational statistics.

 Retrieved from https://nces.ed.gov/nationsreportcard/studies/gaps/.
- U.S. Department of Education. (2017b). The national assessment of elementary proficiency for reading.
 http://www.nationsreportcard.gov/reading_math_2015/#?grade=4
- Valiandes, S. (2015). Evaluating the impact of differentiated instruction on literacy and reading in mixed ability classrooms: Quality and equity dimensions of education effectiveness. *Studies in Educational Evaluation*, 45, 17-26. https://doi.org/
- Vera, E., Heineke, A., & Carr, A. (2017). Latino parents of English learners in Catholic school: Home vs. school based educational involvement. *Journal of Catholic Education*, 20(2), 1-29. https://doi.org/10.15365/joce.2002012017

- Virginia Department of Education. (2018). *Standards of learning*. Retrieved from http://www.doe.virginia.gov/testing/sol/standards_docs/english/index.shtml
- Vogt, M., & Echevarria, J. (2015). Reaching English learners: Aligning the ELA/ELD frame-work with SIOP. *California Reader*, 49(1), 23-33. https://web-b-ebscohost-com.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/ehost/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=119&sid=332e9887-e7fd-4c7d-8f1c-9331c0ee5abd%40pdc-v-sessmgr06
- Von Esch, K., & Kavanagh, S. (2018). Preparing mainstream classroom teachers of English learner students: Grounding practice-based designs for teacher learning in theories of adaptive expertise development. *Journal of Teacher Education*, 69(3), 239-251. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022487117717467
- Vu, P., & Feinstein, S. (2017). An exploratory multiple case study about using game-based learning in STEM classrooms. *International Journal of Research in Education and Science*, 3(2), 582-588. https://doi.org/10.21890/ijres.328087
- Vygotsky, L. S. (1978). *Mind in society. The development of higher psychological*processes (M. Cole, V. John-Steiner, S. Scribner, & E. Souberman, Eds. &

 Trans.). Harvard University Press.
- Wong, C., Indiatsi, J., & Wong, G. (2017). ESL teacher candidates' perceptions of strengths and inadequacies of instructing culturally and linguistically diverse students: Post clinical experience. *Journal of Cultural Diversity*, 23(2), 57-64. https://web-b-ebscohost-com.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/ehost/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=122&sid=332e9887-e7fd-4c7d-8f1c-9331c0ee5abd%40pdc-v-sessmgr06

- Wong, S. L., Green, L. A., & Bazemore, A. W., & Miller, B. F. (2017). How to write a health policy brief. *Families, Systems, & Health*, 33(1), 21-24. https://web-b-ebscohost-com.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/ehost/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=125&sid=332e9887-e7fd-4c7d-8f1c-9331c0ee5abd%40pdc-v-sessmgr06
- Wu, Y. (2016). Applying culturally responsive pedagogy to the vocational training of immigrants. *Journal of Education and Training Studies*, 4(2), 177-181. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1085054.pdf
- Wyatt, T. (2014). Teaching across the lines: Adapting scripted programmes with culturally relevant/responsive teaching. *Pedagogy, Culture & Society*, 22(3), 447-469. doi.org/10.1080/14681366.2014.919957
- Yin, R. K. (2014). Case study research: Design and methods (5th ed.). Sage.
- Yin, R. K. (2017). Case study research and applications: Design and methods (6th ed.).

 Los Angeles, CA: Sage publications.
- Young, C., Hill, R., Morris, G., & Woods, F. (2016). Engaging in collaboration: A team of teams approach. *Kappa Delta Pi Record*, 52(2), 76–78. https://doi.org/10.1080/00228958.2016.1156514
- Young, E., & Quinn, L. (2002). Writing effective public policy papers: A guide for policy advisors in Central and Eastern Europe. Local Government and Public Reform Initiative; Budapest, Hungary.

 http://www.icpolicyadvocacy.ort/sites/icpa/files/downloads/writing_effective_pub

lic_policy_papers_young_quinn.pdf

- Zarifi, A., & Taghavi, A. (2016). The impact of cooperative learning on grammar learning among Iranian intermediate EFL learners. *Theory & Practice in Language Studies*, 6(7), 1429-1436. https://web-b-ebscohost-com.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/ehost/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=129&sid=332e9887-e7fd-4c7d-8f1c-9331c0ee5abd%40pdc-v-sessmgr06
- Zhou, G., & Xu, J. (2017). Microteaching lesson study: An approach to prepare teacher candidates to teach science through inquiry. *International Journal of Education in Mathematics, Science and Technology*, *5*(3), 235-247. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1141651.pdf
- Zock, M. (2015). It's important for them to know who they are: Teachers' efforts to sustain students' cultural competence in an age of high stakes testing. *Urban Education*, 52(5), 610 636. https://doi.org/10.1177/0042085915618716

Appendix A: Policy Recommendations for Elementary Content Teachers' ELL Instructional Practices

Walden University

A Policy Recommendation Paper with Detail

by

C. Wesley Owens

Policy Recommendations for Elementary Content Teacher's ELL Instructional Practices

Introduction

The increasing diversity of student populations has presented unique challenges for teachers who instruct ELLs in their classrooms. Teachers work with students who are faced with the dual task of attaining academic knowledge while overcoming linguistic barriers (Perez & Kennedy, 2014). These barriers often require teachers to make instructional accommodations in the classroom to assist ELL academic performance (Pappamihiel & Lynn, 2016). As student populations become increasingly diverse in public schools and the achievement gap between English Language Learners (ELLs) and English-speaking students continue to grow, researchers, lawmakers, and school district personnel seek ways to increase student performance. According to Schulz et al. (2014), teachers are challenged to construct cultural bridges to link students' home and school lives to enhance academic achievement. The problem, in a Virginia school district, is a need to explore the instructional practices of elementary content teachers of ELLs and how those practices are perceived by the teachers to be aligned with improved ELL academic performance. A gap of practice exists at the local level where, according to the school districts' supervisor of program evaluation, there is not a clear understanding of which instructional strategies are being used in the classroom. This dynamic points to an apparent gap between best practice and existing practice.

The purpose of the policy recommendation paper is for me to offer suggestions on how to support elementary content teachers with ELLs. The policy recommendations will provide best practice suggestions, derived from current scholarly literature of the

instructional practices of elementary content teacher experiences in the K – 5 academic setting. I constructed the study's conceptual framework based on Ladson-Billings's (1995) theory of culturally relevant pedagogy which, was rooted in the theoretical tenets of Vygotskian theory of social and cognitive construction originated in the 1990s from research on educational inequity of ethnically diverse students (Vygotsky, 1978). According to Ladson-Billings (1995) "culturally relevant pedagogy rests on three criteria or propositions; (a) Students must experience academic success; (b) students must develop and/or maintain cultural competence, and; (c) students must develop a critical consciousness through with they challenge the status quo of the current social order" (p. 160). In this policy recommendation, I will offer suggestions to improve the instructional practices of elementary content teachers with ELLs as perceived by the nine participants in this study.

Research Design

I undertook an exploratory case study to examine the instructional practices of elementary content teachers of ELLs and how those practices are perceived by the teachers to be aligned with improved ELL academic performance. I collected data using semi-structured interviews and the review and analysis of lesson plans from a sample of nine elementary content teachers. The interviews were scheduled for 1 hour and, each interview was recorded using FreeConferenceCall.com as an audio recording system. All interviews were audiotaped, transcribed, and analyzed. Following the transcription of the interviews, participants were given the opportunity to review their transcripts for accuracy. Once I read the transcripts, I then re-read them to begin coding the interviews

for potential themes. I developed codes that addressed the research questions and conceptual framework. The findings provided an understanding of participants' perceptions of working with ELLs and how they implemented instructional practices in mainstream classes. The policy recommendation that evolved from the research study presents my endorsements to improve the instructional practices, which could lead to the academic enhancement efforts for ELLs.

Findings

The results of this study consist of five major themes: (a) cooperative learning strategies, (b) varied instructional strategies, (c) collaboration with ESOL teachers, (d) language barriers, and (e) a welcoming learning environment. For each theme, a more indepth discussion is provided below.

Theme 1: Cooperative learning strategies. Implementing cooperative learning strategies to promote English language acquisition among ELLs refers to the use of strategies that are important instructional practices that positively affect ELL learning. Participants involved in the interviews reported that cooperative learning methods allowed ELLs with low English proficiency to feel more confident and engaged in mainstream classrooms. Additionally, pairing students with varying levels of proficiency, participants replied, allow students to mastery subjects because students learn best from one another.

Theme 2: Varied instructional strategies. In reference to teachers' use of varied instructional strategies, ELLs learn best when instructional practices meet their individual needs. Interviewed participants reported that varied instructional practices

provided the proper support to enhance student performance. Participants stated that ELLs need to have varied instructional strategies that included small groups and multimodal approaches such as graphic organizers, visuals, music, and gestures, as well as building on students' cultural competence to help make content understandable for ELLs. Furthermore, ELLs can overcome challenges when teachers employ varied instructional methods that address culturally and linguistically diverse learners.

Theme 3: Collaboration with ESOL teachers. Collaboration with ESOL teachers discusses a method for content teachers to engage with their ELLs effectively. However, many of the content teachers complained that pulling ELLs from their classrooms can be extremely disruptive. Eight out of the nine participants affirmed that teaching modifications to provide ELLs with the same learning opportunities as their non-ELL students included sharing teaching strategies with ESOL teachers. One of the participants stated her ELLs are coming to her classroom better prepared to learn because of her collaborating with the ESOL teacher.

Theme 4: Language barriers. Emphasis on parental communication as one of the keys to improving academic performance referred to ways that support parental engagement between teachers and parents. Participants interviewed stated that because of the language barrier, increased efforts were warranted to involve parents in academic pursuits of ELLs. Communicating with parents, commented participants were difficult for them because of the language barrier. Participants also shared that basic English classes could be offered for parents to help bridge the communication gap.

Theme 5: A welcoming learning environment. A welcoming learning environment is the final theme, which referred to how the appropriate classroom atmosphere could increase academic achievement. Participants interviewed stated that the proper environment was established, real learning can take place. Moreover, by building community and relationships, commented one participant, a child learns best when they feel welcome.

Recommendations

The policy recommendation provided is a direct result of the study findings. The policy recommendation aims to increase the districts' stakeholders' understanding of the instructional practices, which can state improvement of instructional strategies, which can lead to the academic enhancement efforts for ELLs. The findings reflected in the literature review indicate there are a variety of barriers that hinder the instructional practices of elementary content teachers and ELL academic performance. Thus, I present solutions to the obstacles that hinder the instructional practices of elementary content teachers and their ability to enhance ELL student performance. The policy recommendation is based on the five major themes that emerged from the study.

Recommendation 1: Build time into the school year for district-level communication and collaboration. Data collected for this policy recommendation indicates that eight of the nine participants found value collaborating with ESOL teachers to assist ELLs who are struggling in mainstream classes. However, most participants commented that one of the challenges they faced with ELLs in the classroom was the additional class management needed to adjust to ESOL teachers pulling ELLs in and out

of their classrooms. It is recommended that district administration provide one full inservice day, per quarter, to allow elementary content and ESOL teachers to communicate, collaborate, and learn from one another in efforts to improve ELL learning.

Evidence. Communication and collaboration among elementary content and ESOL teachers have been validated as a strategy to promote ELL academic performance. Mundschenk and Fuchs (2016) recommended teacher collaboration to improve ELL academic success. Prelli (2016) also recommended teacher collaboration because it provides additional opportunities for teachers to learn appropriate practices applicable to their students. Building relationships through collaboration suggested Jao and McDougall (2016) can enhance teacher knowledge by improving effective teaching practices. Collaborative activities, as sanctioned by Johnston and Tsai (2018), also produced co-planning for struggling ELL students. Mandel and Eiserman (2015) found that ESOL and classroom teachers can learn and grow in their teaching practices together. As a result, students are coming into mainstream classrooms better prepared to learn. The authors summarized that teacher collaboration was especially beneficial in science and social studies where it is more content-specific vocabulary that can be more challenging. Kirchhoff (2015) recommended that students can achieve greater success when elementary content teachers and ESOL teachers utilize collaboration by sharing ideas and resources. Collaborative teaching, recommended DuFour et al. (2016) allow teachers to share experiences they have in the classroom and become the crux of a thriving learning community. These activities provide the elementary content and the

ESL teacher opportunities to combine their teaching methods. Team members become stronger by sharing ideas to maximize student learning.

Recommendation 2: Employing strategies to increase parental involvement.

One of the biggest challenges identified by participants was to recognize opportunities to overcome the language barrier between parents and teachers and increase parental involvement. It is recommended that teachers provide bilingual written documentation to parents of ELLs to improve communication between themselves, students, and parents.

Evidence. A positive correlation has been linked between ELL parental involvement and ELL students' higher test scores, increased motivation, and higher reading achievement (Calarco, 2016; Parsons & Shim, 2019). To enhance student performance, Niehaus et al. (2017) endorsed finding ways to increase parental involvement. Parents of low performing students may feel uncomfortable in school settings. According to Case (2016), this discomfort is because of the cultural communication barriers that exist between parents and teachers. Therefore, it is helpful to employ activities that encourage parents to engage in events that promote positive learning practices with their children (Hindin et al. 2017). Vera et al. (2017) sampled 329 parents of ELLs and found that perceived language barriers were a significant predictor of decreased parental involvement. The investigation determined the reasons why parents might not be involved, factors that promote engagement, and parents' educational ambitions for their children. Rossetti et al. (2018) also advised increased communication between teachers and parents of ELL to improve students' attendance, behavior and

academic achievement. Supporting parental engagement and breaking down language and communication barriers between home and school are recommendations for stakeholders to enhance ELLs' student performance. Parental support allows children to develop literacy skills before children enter school for the first time. Parental involvement in reading stated Carroll (2017) enables children to become familiar with the reading process, which in turn supports their children's literacy development at home. Teachers who provide bilingual written documentation to parents of ELLs can improve communication between themselves, students, and parents (Samalot-Rivera et al. 2018). Improved communication may compel parents to become more engaged in their child's learning process.

Recommendation 3: Creating a diversity training program. Participants of the study voiced the benefits of creating a stress-free learning environment for ELLs to optimize learning. It is recommended that a diversity training program will be completed on an annual basis by elementary content teachers for the purpose of providing cultural competency to better prepare elementary content teachers to aide in the success of all students, especially ELLs.

Evidence. My third recommendation based on the findings of this study is to implement a diversity training program to create a stress-free and welcome learning environment for ELLs. Completing a diversity training program, according to Schwartz (2019), will allow teachers to better communicate with students and parents of culturally and linguistically diverse backgrounds. Practical diversity education courses provide participants an opportunity to look at their own cultural bias as it relates to their

ethnically diverse classrooms (Cardona-Molto et al. 2018). The purpose of the training would be to create a stress-free and welcoming learning environment through the integration of culturally competent course content into elementary content teachers' instructional practices (Cardona-Molto et al., 2018; Parsons & Shim, 2019). Diversity training workshops would be aligned with the districts' strategic goal to increase student performance for all students, notably underperforming ELLs.

Conclusion

Educational professionals within the target district have expressed feedback regarding the instructional practices of elementary content teachers with an emphasis on ELLs' student performance. The policy recommendations in this section were constructed through the lens of the study's conceptual framework, culturally relevant pedagogy. That data collected indicated that participants had challenges related to collaborating with ESOL teachers and language barriers, as perceived by the nine participants. The above study findings will be addressed through the policy recommendation that calls for building time into the school year for district-level communication and collaboration, employing strategies to increase parental involvement, and creating a diversity training program. If district stakeholders adapt the implementation of the policy recommendations, this process stands to benefit ELLs at district elementary schools with a strategy to improve instructional practices of elementary content teachers.

References

- Calarco, J. (2016). The broken compass: Parental involvement with children's education. Social Forces, 94(4), 1-3. https://doi.org/10.1093/sf/sou126
- Cardona-Molto, M., Ticha, R., & Abery, B. (2018). Education for diversity in initial teacher preparation programmes: A comparative international study. *Journal of E-Learning & Knowledge Society*, *14*(2), 79-95. https://doi.org/10.20368/1971-8829/1499
- Carroll, J. (2017). Literacy for families who are English language learners: The Florey family literacy project. *Practical Literacy: The Early & Primary Years*, 22(2), 24-28. https://www.alea.edu.au/resources/practical-literacy-the-early-and-primary-years-plepy-2
- Case, A. (2016). Let social interaction flourish. *Educational Leadership*, 73(5), 51-53. http://www.ascd.org/publications/educational-leadership.aspx
- DuFour, R., DuFour, R., Eaker, R., & Many, T. (2016). Learning by doing. IN, Indiana:Solution Tree Press.
 http://pages.solutiontree.com/rs/solutiontree/images/LBD_FreeChapter.pdf
- Hindin, A., Steiner, L., & Dougherty, S. (2017). Building our capacity to forge successful home-School partnerships: Programs that support and honor the contributions of families. *Childhood Education*, *93*(1), 10-19. https://doi.org/10.1080/00094056.2017.1275232
- Jao, L., & McDougall, D. (2016). Moving beyond the barriers: Supporting meaningful teacher collaboration to improve secondary school mathematics. *Teacher*

- Development, 20,557–573. https://doi.org/10:1080/13664530.2016.1164747
- Johnston, W. R., & Tsai, T. (2018). The prevalence of collaboration among American teachers: National Findings from the American Teacher Panel. Creative Commons, RAND Corporation. https://doi.org/.7249/RR2217
- Kirchhoff, C. (2015). Extensive reading in the EFL Classroom: Benefits of a face-to-face collaboration activity. *Reading Matrix: An International Online Journal*, *15*(1), 54-65. http://www.readingmatrix.com/journal.html
- Ladson-Billings, G. (1995). But that's just good teaching! The case for culturally relevant pedagogy. *Theory into Practice*, *34*(3), 159-165. https://doi.org/10.1080/00405849509543675
- Mandel, K., & Eiserman, T. (2015). Team teaching in high school. *Educational Leadership*, 73(4), 74-77. https://web-b-ebscohost-com.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/ehost/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=1&sid=39fd7133-ac8b-4826-ba20-57ce7e8112b2%40pdc-v-sessmgr04
- Mundschenk, N., & Fuchs, W. (2016). Professional learning communities: An effective mechanism for the successful implementation and sustainability of responses to intervention. *SRATE Journal*, *25*(2), 55-64. http://www.srate.org/JournalEditions/Volume25-2/Mundschenk.pdf
- Niehaus, K., Adelson, J. L., Sejuit, A., & Zheng, J. (2017). Native language background and academic achievement: Is socioemotional well-being a mediator? *Applied Developmental Science*, 21(4), 251–265. https://doi.org/10.1080/10888691.2016.1203790

- Pappamihiel, N., & Lynn, C. (2016). Adaptations for English language learners:

 Differentiating between linguistic and instructional accommodations. *The Electronic Journal for English as a Second Language*, 20(3), 1-13.

 https://www.tesl-ej.org/wordpress/issues/volume20/ej79/ej79a3/
- Parsons, M. W., & Shim, J. M. (2019). Increasing Ell parental involvement and engagement: Exploration of K-12 administrators in a rural state. *English Language Teaching*, *12*(10), 29-43. https://doi.org/10.5539/elt.v12n10p29
- Perez, M., & Kennedy, A. (2014). How do changes in the language of instruction and classroom composition affects English learners? *Society for Research on Educational Effectiveness*, 1-11. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED562762.pdf
- Prelli, G. (2016). How school leaders might promote higher levels of collective teacher efficacy at the level of school and team. *English Language Teaching*, 9(3), 174-180. https://doi.org/10.5539/elt.v9n3p174
- Rossetti, Z., Redash, A., Sauer, J. S., Bui, O., Wen, Y., & Regensburger, D. (2018).

 Access, accountability, and advocacy: Culturally and linguistically diverse families' participation in iep meetings. Exceptionality, https://doi.org/10.1080/09362835.2018.1480948
- Samalot-Rivera, A., Treadwell, S., & Sato, T. (2018). Instructional strategies to consider when teaching Hispanic English-language learners in physical education. *Education Source*, 31(2), 26-30. https://doi.org/10.1080/08924562.2017.1418691
- Schulz, L., Hurt, K., & Lindo, N. (2014). My name is not Michael: Strategies for promoting cultural responsiveness in schools. *Journal of School Counseling*,

- 12(2), 1-35. https://web-b-ebscohost-com.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/ehost/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=112&sid=332e9887-e7fd-4c7d-8f1c-9331c0ee5abd%40pdc-v-sessmgr06
- Schwartz, S. (2019). The power of facing our unconscious bias. *Education Week*, 38(33), 10-16.
 - https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=a9h&AN=136657538&s ite=ehost-live&scope=site
- Vera, E., Heineke, A., & Carr, A. (2017). Latino parents of English learners in Catholic school: Home vs. school based educational involvement. *Journal of Catholic Education*, 20(2), 1-29. https://doi.org/10.15365/joce.2002012017
- Vygotsky, L. S. (1978). *Mind in society. The development of higher psychological*processes (M. Cole, V. John-Steiner, S. Scribner, & E. Souberman, Eds. &

 Trans.). Harvard University Press.

Appendix B: Interview Questionnaire

Interview Protocol Teacher Perceptions of the Cultural Relevance of ELL Instruction C. Wesley Owens

Participant #1
Year of Service
Opening Statement: First of all, I would like to thank you for your time and cooperation
to help me with my research study. Thank you for signing the consent form. A gentle
reminder that I will be recording the entire interview. With your permission, may I please
start the recording? I like to know what instructional practices you use to support ELL
learning. I would also like to know what practices, from your perspective are perceived to
connect with improved ELL academic performance? Through this interview, I would like
to gain a deeper understanding of your instructional practices.
1. So, to begin this process, can you please tell me how many ELLs are in your

1. So, to begin this process, can you please tell me how many ELLs are in your classroom?

Motivational Influences: administrative practices	2. What are your perspectives about ensuring
where they implement safe places where students	the academic success of ELLs in your
feel safe to interact	classroom?
Cognitive learning: differences that define the	3. Describe your experiences teaching general
gap in acquiring superior learning opportunities	content classes to ELLs?
between the subgroups and their counterparts	
Selection processes: students excel in challenging	4. Do you face any challenges in your
tasks when those tasks do not correspond with	classroom because of having ELLs in your
students' inherent ability but instead correspond to	class?
the students' acquired skills	
Affective influences: administrative practices that	5. Describe your perceptions of the optimal
influence student choices and improve their self-	learning environment for ELLs?
efficacy	
Cognitive learning	6. What specific instructional practices do you

	use to teach ELLs in your classroom? Can
	you provide some examples?
Selection Process	7. Please share some modifications you have
	made in your teaching in order to provide
	ELLs with the same learning opportunities
	as your non-ELL students?
Motivational Influences	8. Are there quality instructional resources
	available for you to use with ELLs to meet
	their literacy needs? If so, please explain?
Selection Process	9. What practices and programs are in place to
	assist ELLs that are struggling in mainstream
	classes?
Affective Influences	10. What obstacles, if any, do you think content
	teachers face teaching ELLs in mainstream
	classrooms?
	11. Is there anything else you would like to
	share with me that relate to the topic
	concerning instructional practices that are
	linked to improve the academic performance
	of ELLs?

Appendix C: Research Questions Coding Progression

	RQ1: What instructional	RQ2: What practices are
	practices do elementary	perceived to be aligned
	content teachers say they	with improved ELL
	use to support ELL	academic performance?
	learning?	
A Priori Codes (Interviews)	Academic Success	Academic Success
		Cultural Competence.
A Priori Codes (Lesson Plans)	Academic Success	
Open Codes (Interviews)	Anchor Charts	Collaborating with ESOL
	Kagan leaning structures	teachers
	Guided reading	• Lack of professional
	• Hands on	training •
	Visual learning	Overcoming parental
	Sheltered instruction	language barriers
	techniques	Kinesthetic learning
	Small group learning	activities
Open Codes (Lesson Plans)	Teachers' use of varied	
	instructional strategies to	
	improve student	
	performance.	

Axial Codes (Interviews)	1) Cooperative learning	1) Collaboration with
	strategies.	ESOL teachers.
	2) Varied instructional	2) Language barriers.
	strategies.	3) A welcoming learning
		environment.
Axial Codes (Lesson Plans)	1) Varied instructional	
	strategies.	
Policy Recommendations		1) District-level
		communication and
		collaboration.
		2) Employing strategies
		to increase parental
		engagement.
		3) Diversity Training
		Program.

Appendix D: Lesson Plan Analysis of Activities and Varied Instruction

Strategy/Activity	Participant Number
Small group instruction	5
Visual learning	1, 2, 4, 7, 9
Cooperative learning	7
Phonics worksheets	4, 5
Academic success	None
Culturally competence	None

Appendix E: Interview Questions Aligned to Research Questions

Interview Questions	Research Questions
1. Describe your experiences teaching general content	Research Question 1:
classes to ELLs?	
	What instructional practices
2. Do you face any challenges in your classroom	do elementary content
because of having ELLs in your class?	teachers say they use to
	support ELL learning?
3. What specific instructional practices do you use to	
teach ELLs in your classroom? Can you provide some	
examples?	
4. Please share some modifications you have made in	
your teaching in order to provide ELLs with the same	
learning opportunities as your non-ELL students?	
5. Are there quality instructional resources available for	
you to use with ELLs to meet their literacy needs: If so,	
please explain?	

6. What are your perspectives about ensuring the Research Question 2: academic success of ELLs in your classroom? What practices are 7. Describe your perceptions of the optimal learning perceived to be aligned with environment for ELLs? improved ELL academic performance? **8.** What practices and programs are in place to assist ELLs that are struggling in mainstream classes? **9.** What obstacles, if any, do you think content teachers face teaching ELLs in mainstream classrooms? 10. Is there anything else you would like to share with me that relate to the topic concerning instructional practices that are linked to improve the academic performance of ELLs?